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The year 2004 bore witness to many strategic ambitions 

by the Irish Medicines Board (IMB) reaching fruition 

and it is a pleasure to present this annual report, which 

outlines these highlights. The year also saw the Board 

and its staff attain new heights in terms of delivery in 

all areas of our operations. This report records the IMB’s 

favourable fiscal position and illustrates, once again, 

the delivery of a high quality service by an organisation 

which continues to be independently resourced without 

burden to the State finances. 

The fundamental mission of the IMB, which underpins 

all of its work, is the need to protect and enhance 

public health and animal health through the effective 

regulation of medicines and medical devices available on 

the Irish market, or manufactured here for export. While 

tremendous new productivity levels across all operations 

were delivered in 2004, this was achieved without 

sacrifice to the primary focus of the IMB’s remit. 

Demands for service and information supply from the 

IMB has increased year-on-year from all stakeholders 

spanning healthcare professionals, interested parties 

through to the industry. It is a reflection of the 

heightened level of interest in the healthcare arena 

overall and was identified as a key influence on the 

Board’s decision in 2001 to undertake a comprehensive 

review of all processes and procedures and to lay plans 

for the organisational changes that would lead to greater 

productivity. Our objective at that time was to establish 

a new organisational structure that would streamline 

licensing activities and ensure the most effective and 

efficient use of all resources in providing a quality service 

to all stakeholders. In addition, this new organisational 

structure required a framework that would allow 

flexibility for increased resources to be deployed 

effectively to expand the Board’s outputs and services 

– all without compromising quality. 

2004 was a watershed in relation to our delivery on this 

objective. The full implementation of our comprehensive 

information technology architecture, which would 

support our organisational change, was concluded, and 

the new structure of our organisation implemented. 

Pat O’Mahony, Chairman
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It is a tremendous feat as the organisation had to 

restructure significantly while concurrently exploiting 

the best use of new technology for maximum benefit. 

However, our organisation now boasts more streamlined 

processes and procedures and already the rewards are 

coming through, with 2004 recording a doubling of 

the IMB’s productivity in terms of human medicines’ 

product assessments. This would not have been achieved 

without the energy and partnership approach from staff, 

management and the Board. 

The year was also marked by the IMB’s contribution to 

the success of Ireland’s EU Presidency, during which the 

IMB hosted over 300 international delegates to some 

15 specialist conferences and meetings. It was an ideal 

platform to showcase the broad acumen of the IMB and 

consolidate our standing in the European arena. 

Following an analysis of our financial prospects, against 

a background of fears about the combined impact on 

the Board’s finances and operational wellbeing of an 

impending rent review and the cost associated with 

benchmarking, a compelling economic case was made 

for the purchase of our office accommodation. The 

Department of Health and Children and the Department 

of Finance supported this proposal, and we purchased 

our existing office building in December.

The financial arrangements utilised for the purchase 

minimise the Board’s exposure to interest rate changes 

and the purchase will reduce our costs considerably in 

future years.

From a financial perspective, 2004 resulted in the IMB 

continuing to conduct its core activities without financial 

recourse to the State. In the main, cost increases were 

largely attributable to increased staff numbers and 

related staff costs. As with previous years, cash flow 

remained strong and the IMB is in a healthy position 

facing into 2005. The implementation of agreement on 

benchmarking has added significantly to our costs but it 

has enabled us to achieve increased productivity. 

In our field of consumer protection, the sharing of 

information with various professionals, as well as State 

and scientific bodies, is crucial for effective judgements 

and strategies. We extend our gratitude to the various 

scientific bodies, professional groups and representative 

organisations, as well as industry, the EU and 

international scientific and medical organisations who 

give us their co-operation, assisting our organisation to 

maintain the highest standards of medicinal products 

and medical devices on the Irish market. 

We thank the Tánaiste and Minister for Health and 

Children and the staff at her Department for their 

ongoing support in our day-to-day workings. In addition, 

we also appreciate the assistance of the Department for 

Agriculture and Food. The continued co-operation of 

the dedicated professionals in these departments will 

continue to contribute to the productive operation of 

the IMB. 

Throughout 2004, the Board members of the IMB 

continuously demonstrated their commitment and 

dedication to the organisation through their individual 

expert contributions to our collective thinking. 

Professor Kevin O’Malley retired from the Board during 

the year due to business commitments abroad. His 

presence will be sorely missed by all of his colleagues.  

His commitment and contribution to public health 

and medicines regulation was immense since the 

establishment of the IMB in 1996, and indeed over 

a further 18 years service with the National Drugs 

Advisory Board. Credit is also due to the depth of work 

undertaken by the individuals who comprise our various 

sub-committees. They provide the IMB with unique 

access to best advice. In combination with our staff, 

they provide a strong level of scientific and medical 

professionalism and work commitment, resulting in the 

IMB being a key national driving force in protecting 

public and animal health through continuous, effective 

control of medicines and medical devices. 

Pat O’Mahony 

Chairman 
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BOARD MEMBERS

Back row (L-R) Dr. Rory Lehane; Mr. Denis Cronin; Ms. Anne Nolan; 
Mr. PJ O’Connor; Mr. Aidan Murray; 
 
Front row (L-R) Prof. Kevin O’Malley; Ms. Aideen Murphy; 
Mr. Pat O’Mahony (Chairman); Ms. Breda Dooley.

The Board of the IMB was appointed on 2nd March 

2001 by the Minister for Health and Children, Mr. 

Micheál Martin TD in accordance with the powers 

conferred on him by subsection 2 of section 7 of the IMB 

Act, 1995 for the period ending 31st December 2005. 

The Board members are:

Mr. Pat O’Mahony (Chairman)

Mr. Denis Cronin 

Ms. Breda Dooley

Dr. Rory Lehane

Ms. Aideen Murphy

Mr. Aidan Murray 

Ms. Anne Nolan

Mr. P.J. O’Connor 

Prof. Kevin O’Malley (Resigned November 2004)
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Overview of 2004
The mission of the Irish Medicines Board (IMB) is to 

protect and enhance public and animal health through 

the regulation of human and veterinary medicines and 

medical devices, available in Ireland or manufactured 

in Ireland for Irish or export markets. During 2004, 

considerable progress was achieved across a broad range 

of performance indicators. Maintaining our core focus on 

public and animal health protection, we also continued 

to implement considerable progressive change, which 

has delivered many benefits, not least a doubling of 

output of human medicines assessments. This is a 

significant accomplishment.

Other highlights of 2004 include the IMB’s very 

successful participation in Ireland’s Presidency of the 

European Union, and the Board’s purchase of its office 

accommodation, which improves our fiscal outlook, 

while providing greater certainty and significantly 

reducing costs in the medium and long term.

Ireland is a key global location for the pharmaceutical/

biopharmaceutical industry and is now the largest 

exporter of pharmaceuticals in the world. The IMB plays 

an important role in the monitoring of the industry. Over 

7,000 medicinal products for human use and over 1,000 

veterinary medicinal products are presently authorised 

by the IMB for use in the Irish market. Regulation by 

the IMB of the marketing, manufacture and distribution 

of medicinal products plays a very significant role in 

ensuring that appropriate standards are maintained in 

this sector. This includes post marketing surveillance, 

which encompasses pharmacovigilance, investigation of 

reports of quality defects, and a programme of sampling 

and analysis. The IMB has specific responsibilities for 

inspection of services for the collection, processing and 

quality control of blood and blood components. This role 

will be extended with the implementation, from February 

2005, of the EU Blood Directive. 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S  REPORT

Pat O’Mahony, Chief Executive 
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Ireland is home to 13 of the world’s top 25 medical 

devices companies, and this sector is also rapidly 

increasing its R&D activities. A total of 444 medical 

devices were registered with the IMB’s Medical Devices 

department during 2004, including 345 in vitro 

diagnostic medical devices. One of the most prominent 

emerging technologies in the sector is in the area of 

combining devices with drugs to enhance patient care. 

There is very significant R&D activity and innovation in 

this area in Ireland. 

Maintaining Ireland’s high status in relation to animal 

health and welfare is of critical importance. Central to 

this is the attainment of the highest standards of food 

safety within production systems that are economically, 

environmentally, ethically and socially sustainable. The 

food industry is a very important industry in Ireland with 

exports of €5 billion. The IMB’s regulation of veterinary 

medicines plays a very significant part in supporting this 

sector through assisting in the prevention and treatment 

of disease, in enhancing animal welfare and in ensuring 

the safety of foods of animal origin. Presently, there are 

significant challenges in relation to the availability of 

certain medicines in Ireland for minor uses or for minor 

species and the IMB is actively involved in assisting to 

find solutions to this issue.

The IMB established a simplified registration scheme for 

homeopathic medicines, which was implemented during 

2003. Some 66 applications for product approvals were 

received in 2004 under this new scheme.

A major item noted in the 2002 annual report was 

Board approval of the IMB’s three-year IT strategic plan 

which embraces both information technology and 

organisational change. This entire programme of work 

is known as nIMBus and significant progress has been 

made in its implementation. The IT component has 

been rolled out on schedule and under budget, and 

we implemented the new organisational structure from 

June 2003. In 2004, as part of the organisation change 

programme we restructured the Technical Department. 

The former Department head is now our Senior Scientific 

Advisor, reporting directly to the Chief Executive. The 

Quality Manager, with responsibility for the Quality 

Management System (QMS), now also reports directly 

to the Chief Executive. Considerable progress has been 

achieved during the year in a variety of technical projects 

and in the development of the QMS.

Performance in the restructured Human Medicines 

Department consistently improved each month from 

June to December 2003, and this enhanced performance 

was consolidated in 2004, with more than double the 

output of product assessments compared to any other 

year since the IMB was established in 1996 (see graph 

below). Up to 30% of this improvement was as a result 

of the implementation of enhanced IT systems, and the 

remaining 70% was due to changes in management, 

processes and work practices. Over one third of the 

historical backlog in applications was dealt with during 

the year. This enhanced output level will be sustained 

as the structures and processes are consolidated going 

forward. 

This is a credit to the management and staff involved 

directly or by way of support services. 

Total output of all assessment types in the Human 

Medicines Department in 2003 and 2004:

Dr. Caitríona Fisher, 
Quality Manager 

Dr. J. M. Morris, 
Senior Scientific Advisor 
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Performance Development
A performance management system, which we term 

Performance Development Programme (PDP), was 

introduced in the IMB in 2003. This system was further 

supported and developed during 2004. Specific targets 

were set at departmental, group and individual level. 

The programme is linked to a system of training needs 

assessment and delivery and has contributed significantly 

to increased performance across the organisation.

The European Medicines 
Regulatory System
The IMB continued to participate actively in the 

European medicines regulatory system in 2004 through 

its involvement in committees and working parties, 

in addition to its authorisation activities. This is an 

important forum as it provides Ireland with access 

to the best available information and data across 

member states in relation to medicines. Ireland is a key 

participant in sharing its information, data and research 

on medicines and contributes to the important decision 

making process in the interests of public health. The 

IMB also continued to represent Ireland at the European 

Pharmacopoeia. Dr. Mike Morris, Senior Scientific 

Advisor with the IMB, was appointed President of the 

Pharmacopoeia in 2004, which is a great endorsement 

of the quality of staff in the IMB and indeed a proud 

achievement for Dr. Morris and our organisation. 

Under the centralised system, the IMB acted as 

rapporteur/co-rapporteur for six human medicinal 

products and one veterinary medicinal product. 

In the mutual-recognition system, the IMB received 

applications to act as Reference Member State for 

6 (2003:8) human medicines applications and 11 

(2003:12) applications for veterinary medicines. The IMB 

completed 19 (2003:18) such applications in the human 

medicines area as well as 9 (2003:18) in the veterinary 

medicines area. The IMB continued to meet all timelines 

in this procedure in 2004. 

Information technology continues to be an important 

topic on the EU agenda. The IMB’s Information 

Technology (IT) Department was actively involved in 

10 EU information technology implementation groups 

during 2004.

The European Medical Devices 
Regulatory System
2004 was a very busy year in the European medical 

devices regulatory system with a 34% increase over 

2003 in the number of meetings attended at EU level. 

The ever-increasing demands in this area are an issue 

that has been raised with the EU Commission during the 

course of the Irish Presidency and followed up again by 

the Dutch Presidency in the latter half of 2004.

Strategic Plan
We developed and published a new IMB three year 

Strategic Plan (2004-2007) for the organisation which 

set out a number of key objectives:

• Effective risk management and improving consumer 

safety 

• Effective regulation through the on-going 

development of our work force and non-staff 

resources 

• Effective communication with all stakeholders and 

empowering consumers through better information.

A number of initiatives are now supporting these 

objectives and further developments to underpin the 

strategic plan’s success are underway. 

Office Accommodation
The Board for some time had been examining the issue 

of office accommodation, associated costs and the most 

cost effective long-term strategy for the organisation 

going forward. With the approval of the Department of 

Health and Children and the Department of Finance, the 

Board succeeded in purchasing its present building in 

December 2004. This purchase will facilitate our future 

development and assist us in reducing our cost base. 

The purchase was financed by way of a mortgage on 

the building and long term fixed rate interest options 

have been availed of.

Irish Presidency of the European 
Union
It was our great privilege to host a series of meetings 

during the Irish Presidency of the European Union. 



It was an important time given that the revised medicines 

legislation package was agreed towards the end of 

the Italian Presidency in 2003. With this agreement in 

place, debate during the Irish Presidency concentrated 

on the practical aspects of implementation of the new 

legislation. Our Presidency also coincided with the 

accession of the 10 new member states and it was a 

particular honour to host a number of key conferences 

during this historic period. We had the privilege of 

welcoming over 320 delegates from the European 

Commission, EMEA and Competent Authorities in the 

existing 15 and 10 new Member States, along with EEA 

countries, to a total of 15 meetings. 

Our schedule began on January 12th with a meeting 

of the Competent Authorities for Medical Devices. The 

heads of the various medicines regulatory agencies 

attended meetings in January and in May, and informal 

meetings of CPMP, COMP, MRFG, CVMP, VMRFG and 

Emacolex were hosted at various venues in April and 

May. The EU Telematics (IT) Steering Committee was 

hosted in May along with an IMB led IT conference. 

In hosting these various meetings, and delivering 

progress on a range of topics, Ireland’s standing and 

that of the IMB in the network of European competent 

authorities was enhanced. One particular achievement 

at heads of medicines regulatory agencies level is the 

establishment of a management group and permanent 

secretariat to facilitate and coordinate the work of the 

network of agencies in the 25 EU Member States and 

EEA countries. This initiative should result in a significant 

improvement in the speed and consistency of decision 

making within the network. 

We acknowledge the generous support of the 

Department of Health and Children, which provided 

financial support for the running of these meetings. 

Communications
During the year, the Board continued to enhance 

its communication with various groups who have 

an interest in healthcare products. Information days 

for veterinary medicines and inspectorate industry 

stakeholders were held. These meetings attracted a  

large number of attendees and positive feedback 

was received.

The IMB hosted the 27th Annual Meeting of National 

Centres of the WHO Programme for International Drug 

Monitoring in October, where 86 participants from 40 

countries in the programme attended. 

During the meeting, the WHO announced Malta’s 

admission to the programme, Malta having recently 

fulfilled its requirements for full membership. In the 

context of completion of the Twinning Project, which 

was led by the IMB, this was an important milestone. 

Following the WHO meeting, the IMB hosted the 

annual International Society of Pharmacovigilance 

(ISoP) conference. Approximately 280 participants from 

academia, the pharmaceutical industry and national 

pharmacovigilance centres were in attendance.

In addition, a range of other meetings with organisations 

and individuals with particular interests in healthcare 

products were hosted by the IMB during 2004. These 

included meetings with the Animal & Plant Health 

Association (APHA), the Association of Pharmaceutical 

Manufacturers of Ireland (APMI), the Irish Association of 

Health Stores (IAHS), the Irish Health Trade Association 

(IHTA), the Irish Medical Devices Association (IMDA), the 

Irish Pharmaceutical Healthcare Association (IPHA), and 

the Irish Pharmaceutical and Chemical Manufacturers 

Federation (IPCMF), now Pharmachemical Ireland.

Publications
The IMB produced a number of valuable guidance 

documents as part of its communications activities 

during 2004, all of which are available from our website. 

In addition, a number of editions of the IMB’s Medicinal 

Products Newsletter, Medical Devices Newsletter and 

Drug Safety Newsletter were published and are also 

available on www.imb.ie.

Irish Medicines Board Headquarters
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Freedom of Information
In 2004, nine requests were received under the Freedom 

of Information Act as compared to 28 in 2003.

One request was appealed to the Information 

Commissioner and a decision is pending. 

The Future 
The organisation moves into 2005 with optimism and 

confidence. We face a variety of challenges.

One of the key initiatives requiring the IMB’s attention 

will be the revised medicines legislation, which takes 

effect from November 2005. A considerable amount of 

effort will be required to prepare for the various changes, 

and resources will have to be critically reviewed for any 

additional requirements. The ever-increasing number of 

meetings at EMEA and Commission level, which require 

the attendance of IMB experts, poses a challenge. 

However, our intention is to limit the impact this has on 

our resources through maximising the use of telephone 

and video conferencing facilities. 

Our ambition is to complete our development studies in 

both inspectorate and pharmacovigilance areas and to 

implement any agreed changes to better deliver in these 

critical areas and to enhance performance and efficiency. 

We will maintain the impetus for change across the 

organisation with the objective of delivering even higher 

standards of output to all stakeholders. 

It is our priority to develop our performance 

management systems and to continue our commitment 

to staff training and development, so that skills sets 

are increased and matched to the complex changing 

environment within which the IMB regulates. 

We will continue the roll-out of our IT strategic plan 

and linked organisational change during 2005, which 

will transform our information technology systems and 

assessment activity, with consequential major benefits to 

the IMB and its stakeholders. 

We will continue to review our funding provision and 

to look critically at our own cost base to ensure we are 

maximising use of resources. 

The transfer of responsibility for controlled drugs from 

the Department of Health and Children should formally 

come under the IMB’s remit towards the latter half of 

2005. 

Board and Staff Matters
To assist the IMB have access to the best medical, 

pharmacological and scientific expertise available in 

Ireland, over 100 professionals contribute voluntarily 

to the work of the IMB through participation on the 

Board and Committees. I express my appreciation and 

gratitude for the guidance, contribution and advice of 

these colleagues, who give so generously of their time 

throughout the year. 

I acknowledge the support of the staff of the 

Departments of Health and Children, and Agriculture 

and Food to the work of the IMB. 

I wish to welcome all new staff members who joined 

during 2004 and to express my personal appreciation 

to all the staff of the IMB for their continued generous 

support in achieving the Board’s objectives during the 

year. I look forward to working with all staff in dealing 

effectively with the various challenges that lie ahead, as 

we continue to strive for excellence in all aspects of our 

daily activities.

Pat O’Mahony 

Chief Executive



Introduction
The Human Medicines Department had a very successful 

year in 2004. Safety monitoring continued to be a 

core priority and activity. 2004 saw an increase in work 

volumes overall across new product licensing, variations, 

renewals, clinical trials and pharmacovigilance activities. 

The benefits from the major change programme 

initiated during 2003 produced a significantly increased 

output of assessments and improvement in timelines. In 

essence the department doubled the number of licence 

applications processed in 2004 as compared to any 

other year since the Board was established. This was 

the result of more effective new support technologies 

and a revised department structure and is a credit to the 

management and staff involved. 

In addition, 2004 saw the successful completion of the 

IMB’s twinning project with Malta.

Licensing 

New Products 
During 2004, the IMB output for new product 

applications was 749 as compared to 683 in 2003. 

This comprised 168 new nationals, 277 new EU mutual 

recognition (MR), 33 new EU centralised* and 271 

transfers applications. (*The figure for centralised 

applications represents the total number of centralised 

authorisations issued by the European Commission.)

This represents a 10% increase on 2003. The IMB 

continues to place a high priority on reducing the 

backlog of national applications. The total number of 

national applications still in progress in December 2004 

was 495, reflecting the fact that the market continues to 

grow significantly.

The median time for new product authorisations issued 

(excluding transfers) in 2004 was 34 weeks, compared 

to 40 weeks in 2003. This reflects a continuing positive 

improvement on the time line for authorisations, which 

has almost halved in a five-year period. 

11

Dr. Joan Gilvarry, 
Director of Human Medicines 

HUMAN MEDICINES 
DEPARTMENT 
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Variations
During the year, there was an output of 13,885 

variations to product authorisations for products 

authorised through the national or mutual recognition 

systems. This represents a substantial increase over 

previous years, as there were 5,407 recorded in 2003. 

There is a continued increase in variation applications 

received with an average growth in 2004 of 7% in Type I 

and of 11% in Type II applications.

Renewals
In 2004, the department processed 1,325 renewals 

for product authorisations through the national or MR 

systems. 

This represents an increase over previous years as 

indicated below:

Clinical Trials
During 2004, 162 applications to conduct clinical 

trials were approved by the IMB. This represents an 

increase over previous years as depicted in the table 

below. Procedures for the introduction of the Clinical 

Trials Directive were fully in place in advance of the 

implementation date of May 2004. 

In 2004, there was an output of 380 clinical trial 

amendment applications, reflecting a 20% increase 

on the figure of 318 during 2003.
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GCP Inspections
Eleven Good Clinical Practice (GCP) inspections were 

conducted in 2004 involving the following:

• One inspection requested by the Committee for 

Human Medicinal Products (CHMP)

• One Phase I unit

• One laboratory site

• Eight investigator sites

- Four commercial

- Four non-commercial.

Implementation of the Clinical Trials Directive required 

the involvement of IMB personnel in a number of 

meetings during the early part of 2004. Four ad hoc 

meetings of the GCP Inspection Services were attended 

during the year and the GCP inspector took on the 

role of secretary to the EU Clinical Trials Facilitation 

Group, which held its first meeting in October 2004. 

Participation in GCP-related issues required the 

participation of staff from the pharmacovigilance section 

in five GCP inspections, as well as processing, evaluation 

and follow up of ADR/ADE reports arising from 

nationally-approved clinical trials.

Twinning Covenant Malta
The IMB has provided support for the setting up of a 

competent regulatory authority, namely the Medicines 

Authority, in Malta. This twinning project involved the 

IMB and the UK’s Medicines and Healthcare products 

Regulatory Agency (MHRA) assisting Malta to create and 

support a new medicines authority. It began 14 months 

before Malta’s accession to the EU in February 2003, and 

finished in October 2004. The objective of this project 

was to strengthen Malta’s institutional capacity by 

supporting the establishment of a competent regulatory 

authority. The project was lead by the IMB with Dr. Joan 

Gilvarry as project leader and Ms. Anne Hayes, the Pre-

Accession Advisor.

The Twinning Covenant aimed to deliver:

• Practical implementation of the Acquis 

Communautaire

• Appropriate training of licensing staff for evaluation 

of EU type dossiers 

• Selection of suitable IT systems for use within the 

Medicines Authority

• Development of appropriate surveillance systems and 

procedures intended to support the enforcement 

process related to marketing authorisations

• Strengthening of the current processes of Good 

Distribution Practice (GDP) and Good Manufacturing 

Practice (GMP)

• Implementation of appropriate systems for 

pharmacovigilance 

• Adoption of effective quality systems by the 

Medicines Authority.

The project was divided into eight Key Result Areas 

(KRA), each distinctly reflecting the organisation 

and systems required to regulate human medicines 

authorisations and licencing activities, and management 

of those systems. The KRA’s ranged from developing the 

capability of the Medicines Authority through legislation, 

assessment and licensing training, IT, enforcement, to 

pharmacovigilance and quality systems.

Pictured at the signing of the twinning agreement with the Maltese 
government are (l-r) Pat O’Mahony, Chief Executive, IMB, 
Anne Hayes, Pre-Accession Advisor, IMB, Dr. Joan Gilvarry, 
Director of Human Medicines, IMB and Pat O’Mahony, Chairman, IMB.
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The eight guaranteed results were achieved by a 

combination of visits to Malta by IMB and MHRA experts 

and visits to the IMB and MHRA by Medicines Authority 

staff. The vast majority of the training was provided 

by IMB/MHRA. Processes were devised to suit the new 

Maltese situation, rather than taking the IMB/MHRA 

processes and applying them to the local situation.

In the pharmacovigilance area, IMB staff members 

worked directly with staff from the Maltese agency.

This provided an opportunity for the twinning partners 

to see the local arrangements in place and also allowed 

training to be provided to a wider group of staff. IMB 

pharmacovigilance staff visited Malta eight times during 

the 20-month project timeframe, delivering a total of 

58 days training to their colleagues in the Medicines 

Authority. Study visits by Maltese staff to IMB also 

reinforced the learning provided and allowed staff to 

experience the IMB’s working arrangements directly. 

At the conclusion of the project the primary objectives 

and the guaranteed results in each KRA of the project 

were met and a fully functioning, human medicines 

regulatory system has been established in Malta. The 

Authority has set up systems for licensing medicinal 

products, for monitoring medicines safety, for the recall 

of defective medicines and is linked into the international 

mechanisms for safety alert and drug recall. Those 

systems are now in place with trained personnel, who 

will continue to ensure that issues are monitored and 

who will react with appropriate speed. 

Pharmacovigilance 
During 2004, the IMB received a total 1,727 suspected 

adverse drug reaction (ADR) reports occurring in Ireland, 

from healthcare professionals and pharmaceutical 

companies.

The IMB appreciates and acknowledges the important 

contribution of healthcare professionals in reporting 

suspected ADRs and facilitating the continued 

surveillance of the safety of medicinal products through 

the voluntary reporting system. The collection of ADR 

reports is essential to ensure continued, effective 

surveillance of the safety of medicinal products.

During 2004, the IMB continued to encourage ADR 

reporting and provided regular reminders in the IMB 

Drug Safety Newsletter and in MIMS (Ireland). A number 

of presentations on pharmacovigilance and ADR 

reporting were also made to healthcare professionals 

as part of postgraduate training courses or continuing 

education programmes. In addition, the IMB website also 

facilitates healthcare professionals to report ADRs. 

Breakdown of Reports by Source

Marketing Authorisation Holders 794 

General Practitioners  277

Hospital Doctors 134

Clinical Trials  190

Community Care Doctors 143

Nurses 84

Community Pharmacists 70

Hospital Pharmacists 32 

Dentists 3

Total 1,727

All ADR reports were followed up, with feedback 

information provided to reporters, as appropriate. 

Relevant ADR reports (i.e. all serious, suspected cases) 

notified directly to the IMB by healthcare professionals 

were forwarded to the appropriate marketing 

authorisation holders (MAHs) and the European 

Medicines Agency (EMEA) within the agreed timeframes. 

The IMB continued to provide anonymised details of ADR 

reports received to the WHO on a monthly basis, for 

inclusion on their international database.

Drugs withdrawn for safety 
reasons
In September 2004, the authorisation for rofecoxib 

(Vioxx) was withdrawn on a voluntary basis worldwide by 

the MAH, Merck Sharp & Dohme (MSD). This withdrawal 

was based on results of a multi-centre, randomised, 

placebo-controlled, double-blind study designed to 

assess the effect of three years treatment with rofecoxib 

on the recurrence of neoplastic polyps of the large 

bowel in patients with a history of colorectal adenoma. 

This study, known as ‘APPROVe’ (Adenomatous Polyp 

Prevention on VIOXX) started in the year 2000, enrolled 

2,600 patients and compared rofecoxib 25mg daily with 

placebo. One of the study objectives was to monitor 

long-term cardiovascular safety. The study showed 

an increased relative risk for confirmed cardiovascular 

events such as heart attack and stroke, beginning after 

18 months of treatment in patients taking rofecoxib 

compared with those taking placebo.
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Following withdrawal of rofecoxib, a formal EU referral 

procedure was initiated for the other Cox-2 inhibitors 

(including the currently authorised products celecoxib, 

etoricoxib, parecoxib and valdecoxib), which is due to be 

completed in April 2005.

No other marketing authorisations were withdrawn for 

safety reasons during 2004.

International Collaboration

The CHMP Pharmacovigilance Working 

Party (PhVWP)

There were a total of 11 meetings of the Committee 

for Proprietary Medicinal Products’ (CHMP) 

Pharmacogvigilance Working Party (PhVWP) during 2004. 

During these meetings the PhVWP considered product 

related issues at the request of CHMP. These included 

centrally authorised products, products subject to referral 

procedures and nationally authorised products. Product 

related issues were also considered at the request of the 

competent authorities of the Member States. 

The PhVWP continued its regular interaction with the FDA 

through tele/videoconferences held during the meetings. 

PhVWP drafting groups continued to review and develop 

guidance on organisational issues and to consider relevant 

class-related effects.

The IMB continued its active participation in the 

EudraVigilance Project. IMB staff attended meetings 

throughout the year at the EMEA and work is ongoing to 

move from the testing environment into full production 

with both the EMEA and industry. 

Information was provided in respect of all requests 

circulated via the Rapid Alert/Non-Urgent Information 

exchange system by other Member States. All suspected 

serious Irish ADRs notified to the IMB in association with 

centrally authorised products were provided to the EMEA 

at the designated intervals throughout the year. 

International Meetings

The Annual Meeting of National Centres 

of the WHO Programme for International 

Drug Monitoring

The IMB hosted the 27th Annual Meeting of National 

Centres in Dublin in October 2004. It is an important 

forum that provides national centres around the world 

responsible for monitoring drug safety, with cumulative 

information on potential safety concerns arising with 

medicines. Ireland was one of only ten founding member 

countries in 1968 and the programme has now expanded 

to include over 86 participating countries. Eighty-six 

participants from 40 countries attended and actively 

participated in the scientific and social aspects of the 

meeting. 

During the meeting, the WHO announced Malta’s 

admission to the programme, Malta having recently 

fulfilled their requirements for full membership. In the 

context of completion of the Twinning Project, this was 

an important milestone, both for the Maltese Medicines 

Authority and the IMB. 

A press briefing was held during the meeting following a 

presentation on ‘Pharmacovigilance in Ireland’, to which 

the media were also invited. In addition to discussion of 

policy and practice regarding national and international 

ADR reporting, a number of topical pharmacovigilance 

issues were considered during the briefing.

The newly appointed Minister for Health and Children, 

Tánaiste Mary Harney T.D., attended the conference 

dinner and informally addressed participants together 

with Mr. Pat O’Mahony, Chief Executive, IMB and 

Professor Vladimir Lepahkin, Assistant Director General, 

WHO.
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Pictured at the WHO Conference Dinner held in October 2004 are 
front row (l-r) Niamh Arthur, Pharmacovigilance Co-ordinator, IMB, 
Dr. Joan Gilvarry, Director of Human Medicines, IMB and An Tánaiste 
and Minister for Health and Children, Mary Harney; back row (l-r) 
Tom Mooney, Department of Health and Children and Pat O’Mahony, 
Chief Executive, IMB.
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International Society of Pharmacovigilance 

(ISoP) Meeting

The IMB also hosted the annual ISoP conference in 

October 2004, which was timed for the same week 

as the WHO conference with one day overlapping 

both events. Approximately 280 participants from 

academia, the pharmaceutical industry and national 

pharmacovigilance centres were in attendance. 

Dr. Joan Gilvarry chaired an overlapping session 

between WHO and ISoP. 

Publications
One issue of the IMB’s Drug Safety Newsletter was 

circulated to doctors, dentists and pharmacists in June 

2004. Topics addressed in the newsletter are listed 

below and are available from the Pharmacovigilance 

Publications section of the IMB’s website (www.imb.ie).

• Anti-TNF Inhibitors

• Atypical Antipsychotics

• Codeine-containing Analgesics

• Methotrexate

• Rosuvastatin

• Nimesulide

• Update on ADR Reporting

Updates on issues considered to be of broad public 

health interest (e.g. vaccines, HRT, pergolide, rofecoxib), 

as well as information on use of International Non-

proprietary names (INNs) and ADR reporting were among 

the monthly items published on the IMB’s regular page in 

MIMS (Ireland) throughout the year.

Company Liaison
Advice on IMB pharmacovigilance reporting requirements 

was provided to MAHs on request throughout the year. 

Anonymised ADR data was provided to MAHs in respect 

of their products for cumulative data on request and in 

the case of individual serious suspected ADRs associated 

with use of their products, on an expedited basis.

Haemovigilance
Ongoing discussions were held with the National 

Haemovigilance Office (NHO) regarding the progress and 

activities of the National Haemovigilance Programme, 

particularly in the context of the forthcoming 

implementation of Directive 2002/98/EC, for which the 

IMB has been assigned the role of Competent Authority 

by the Department of Health and Children.
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Introduction
The Veterinary Medicines Department had a very 

successful year across all its key performance indicators. 

The department continued to monitor the safety of 

veterinary medicinal products in Ireland and responded 

to issues of public and animal health in an efficient 

manner. The department fully met the costs of providing 

its various licensing and advisory services, met all 

timetables for applications for authorisation under the 

central and mutual recognition systems and maintained 

progress on national applications and on the review of 

established vaccines. It also held a successful Veterinary 

Medicines Information Day as well as several meetings 

under the Irish Presidency of the European Union.

Licensing
The year was satisfactory with total output of new 

applications processed by the IMB comfortably exceeding 

the total number of applications received. This includes 

both applications received under the mutual recognition 

procedure, as well as applications submitted directly 

to the IMB. The activity level for new applications 

is comparable with that of 2002 and 2003, and is 

approximately half that reported in 2001. This trend 

may reflect the difficult outlook for the animal health 

industry, which might be attributed to the trading 

environment and complex international regulatory 

climate for veterinary medicines. The activity is illustrated 

graphically in the figure below.
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Personnel from the IMB acted as rapporteur or co-

rapporteur in 2004 on four applications for maximum 

residue limits for foodstuffs of treated animals, as well as 

two new centralised applications and four variations of 

centralised medicines. IMB personnel were also involved 

in the evaluation of ‘referral’ applications submitted to 

the EMEA.

By contrast with the recent trend towards fewer national 

applications for new veterinary medicines, there was a 

steady increase in the number of variation applications 

received, which reached a record 738 during the year. 

The IMB’s Veterinary Medicines Department is involved 

in the review of established veterinary immunological 

products (principally vaccines) on behalf of the 

Department of Agriculture and Food, and good progress 

was maintained. From a total of 156 applications 

submitted for evaluation under this category in the 

period 1999 to 2003, the review has been completed in 

respect of 114. The review is now complete in respect 

of vaccines for ruminants and swine, with work on 

poultry vaccines and companion animal vaccines well 

advanced. The animal health industry has agreed with 

the Department of Agriculture and Food to an orderly 

changeover from existing to new reviewed labels over 

a period which may be up to two years. Veterinary 

surgeons and farmers are reminded to check the 

labelling of all veterinary medicinal products as changes 

may have been made to the labelling consequent to the 

IMB evaluation. 

Pharmacovigilance 
The IMB received 53 national reports of suspected 

adverse reactions (SARs) to veterinary medicinal products 

(VMPs) during 2004. Thirty five reports related to 

suspected adverse effects in the treated animal, 15 

related to lack of expected efficacy, two related to 

suspected residue violations and one case involved 

suspected adverse effects in a human following exposure 

to a VMP. Of those reports relating to suspected adverse 

drug effects in the treated animal, the product used was 

considered to have been probably or possibly associated 

with the observed reaction in 19 cases.

The single human SAR related to the use of an 

organophosphate sheep dip where the product was not 

used in accordance with instructions. The report stated 

that complete product labelling at the point of purchase 

was not provided. The Department of Agriculture and 

Food was notified of this incident in order that it would 

follow-up directly with the retailer concerned. 

During 2004, both the IMB and the EMEA conducted 

an appraisal of the user safety of Micotil 300 (tilmicosin) 

after a report of a human fatality in the United States 

following suspected accidental self-injection with the 

product. As a result of the appraisals, the product user 

safety warnings were revised and the product was 

restricted to use by veterinarians. 
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Product recalls related to product 
defects
A total of 42 quality defects in veterinary medicinal 

products were reported to, or identified by, the IMB 

in 2004. Eight of these reports resulted in product 

recalls from the Irish market. One of the recalls related 

to a quality defect classified as critical: one batch of a 

veterinary immunological medicinal product was the 

subject of an out-of-specification result for potency, 

when tested by an Official Medicines Control Laboratory 

in another Member State.

Communications
The Veterinary Medicines Department hosted the 

following international meetings in 2004:

• Meeting of the Committee for Veterinary Medicinal 

Products 

• Meeting of the Veterinary Mutual Recognition 

Facilitation Group 

These meetings provided delegates from Member States 

of the European Economic Area with the opportunity to 

discuss matters of mutual interest including regulatory 

activities and strategy as well as proposed scientific policy 

on veterinary medicinal products.

Personnel from the Veterinary Medicines Department 

were active throughout the year in servicing meetings 

held under the aegis of the EMEA and the European 

Commission and at other international fora. 

Nationally, IMB personnel were involved in the following 

activities:

• An Information Day meeting held in Dublin in July

• Meetings with client companies in relation to 

ongoing applications

• Meetings with various stakeholders, including 

government departments and agencies, as well as 

interested groups during the year

• Presentations to various academic groups including 

undergraduate and post graduate students on 

veterinary regulatory affairs

• Written information items on the regulation of 

veterinary medicinal products published in scientific 

journals

• Providing support to the Department of Agriculture 

and Food for various legal actions under the Animal 

Remedies legislation. 

A significant achievement for the department was the 

publication of Summaries of Product Characteristics 

(SPCs) for more than 400 authorised veterinary 

medicinal products on the IMB website (www.imb.ie). 

The SPCs contain the particulars on the instructions 

for the safe use, recommended indications and other 

pertinent details and warnings. It is hoped to complete 

this exercise for the remaining authorised veterinary 

medicines during 2005. It is expected that this exercise 

will meet the demand of stakeholders for increased 

information on licensed veterinary medicines.

In addition, IMB personnel were actively involved 

in meetings to assist in finding solutions to the 

unavailability of an adequate range of veterinary 

medicinal products in Ireland. These included:

• Participation in working groups on policy and 

technical requirements for veterinary medicinal 

products at the EMEA

• Technical input to a Department of Agriculture and 

Food Working Group on Farm Animal Welfare on 

medicines availability

• Meetings with various stakeholders to identify and 

seek application for veterinary medicinal products 

licensed elsewhere in the European Union

• Meetings of European medicines agencies to 

examine the reasons for the problem and to explore 

strategic options

• Meetings with the Department of Agriculture 

and Food. 

Veterinary surgeons, farmers and animal owners have 

stated that there are problems with availability of certain 

medicines in Ireland currently. The lack of authorised 

medicines poses both legal and practical challenges, 

particularly insofar as it affects veterinary medicines for 

minor uses or for minor species. The IMB has been to the 

forefront in assisting stakeholders understand and solve 

the problem. 
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The IMB has already assisted applicants who wish, for 

economic reasons, to have a joint United Kingdom/

Irish label by means of a harmonisation initiative with 

the competent authority in the UK. The IMB has also 

introduced a special, subsidised fee for unique veterinary 

medicines where normal commercial returns from the 

market would not be expected to cover the applicable 

new product application fees. However, the IMB cannot 

compel the Irish animal health industry to apply for 

national authorisation of low-turnover medicines. 

Ultimately, the Department of Agriculture and Food has 

the responsibility for defining a regulatory regime which 

balances the rights for animal welfare with the needs of 

consumers and international markets. 

Miscellaneous items
During the course of 2004 relevant aspects of the new 

EU Directive (2004/28/EC) on the operation of the 

centralised authorisation system for veterinary medicinal 

products came into effect. As a consequence, the Irish 

representation at the CVMP had to be amended to a 

single member (Dr. Beechinor, Director of Veterinary 

Medicines) and one alternate member. Following the 

election of Mr. Rory Breathnach as co-opted CVMP 

Member in November 2004, Dr. David Murphy, 

Veterinary Assessor, was appointed alternate CVMP 

member. Mr. Breathnach was also elected as Vice-

Chairman of the Scientific Advice Working Party of 

the CVMP in December.

Despite preparatory work by the IMB to allow for the 

transfer of the competency for the authorisation of 

veterinary immunological medicinal products from the 

Department of Agriculture and Food, the necessary 

legislation was not in place before year end. The IMB 

expects that the transfer will take place during the 

course of 2005. The IMB provided feedback to the 

Department of Agriculture and Food in relation to 

proposed amendments to the supply and distribution 

of veterinary medicinal products under the Animal 

Remedies Regulations. The proposed amendments were 

not finalised before year end.

Towards the end of 2004, the IMB and the Department 

of Agriculture and Food had preliminary discussions on 

other national legislative amendments required to give 

effect to Directive 2004/28/EC on the authorisation 

systems for veterinary medicinal products.
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Introduction
During 2004 the major national issue in the area 

of Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) was the 

implementation of the Clinical Trials Directive, 

2001/20EC on the 1st May 2004. A number of 

applications for licences to manufacture investigational 

medicinal products (IMPs) were processed and, by year 

end, 12 licences had been issued.

An information meeting on wholesaling to non-

pharmacy retail outlets was held in April 2004. In 

addition, an Information Day for manufacturers was 

held in October with in excess of 200 attendees.

On the international front, the IMB continued to 

participate in EU and PIC/S activities. To coincide with the 

implementation of the Clinical Trials Directive, a revised 

GMP Directive (2003/94/EC) for Medicinal Products for 

Human Use became effective from the 1st May 2004.

A number of proposed changes to the EU Guide to GMP 

were progressed during the year. These included planned 

additions to Chapters 1 and 6 on Product Quality 

Review and Ongoing Stability, respectively. There was 

considerable discussion throughout the year in relation 

to the discretion available to a Qualified Person (QP) 

regarding compliance with the marketing authorisation. 

It was made clear that a QP could only legitimately 

release a batch of medicinal product that had been 

manufactured in accordance with the details submitted 

to and agreed with the relevant competent authority.

The Mutual Recognition Agreement (MRA) with Japan 

became operational on the 29th May 2004. The scope 

did not include sterile products and biologicals initially, 

but the intention is that these will be added at a 

later date.

The year was a busy one in the area of quality defects 

and recalls and the publication, following extensive 

consultation, of a Guidance Note on Product Recalls 

was welcomed by stakeholders. 

A summary of the activities of the department are 

outlined in the table contained on the following page.
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Product Certification Activity 2002 2003 2004

Certification of documents 432 356 265

Certificates of free sale 72 32 11

Certificate of good manufacturing practice for finished product 

manufacturers

196 172 187

Certificate of good manufacturing practice for active ingredients 

manufacturers

0 0 66

Certificate of a pharmaceutical product for human use 1207 1000 1026

Certificate of a pharmaceutical product for veterinary use 18 59 102

Other 18 59 37

SUMMARY OF ACTIVITY

Inspection Activities 2002 2003 2004

Inspections in Ireland:    

Manufacturers of human and veterinary medicines, active 

pharmaceutical ingredients and investigational medicinal products

44 64 84

Wholesalers (Includes suppliers to pharmacies and those authorised to 

distribute to non-pharmacy outlets)

36 142 65

Laboratories N/A N/A 10

GCP inspections 0 0 12

Foreign inspections 15 9 4

   

New Licences Issued 2002 2003 2004

New human manufacturer’s licence 6 9 1

New vet manufacturer’s licence 3 2 2

New IMP manufacturer’s licence N/A N/A 12

New wholesaler’s licence (Includes suppliers to pharmacies and those 

authorised to distribute to non-pharmacy outlets)

4 96 19

   

Licence Revocations 2002 2003 2004

Manufacturer of medicinal products for human use 0 0 0

Manufacturer of medicinal products for veterinary use 0 0 0

Wholesaler 0 0 0

   

Variations Issued 2002 2003 2004

Human manufacturer’s licence 191 280 290

Veterinary manufacturer’s licence 27 34 92

Wholesaler’s licence 19 57 47

   

Total Number Of Licences 2002 2003 2004

Manufacturers of medicinal products for human use 77 81 81

Manufacturers of medicinal products for veterinary use 27 26 29

Manufacturers of investigational medicinal products 0 0 12

Wholesalers (Includes suppliers to pharmacies and those authorised to 

distribute to non-pharmacy outlets)

83 89 141
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There was a similarly high level of activity in the area 

of sampling and analysis. This included increased 

participation in EU programmes, which are intended to 

improve utilisation of resources and sharing of analytical 

data across competent authorities. 

In addition to continuing to monitor the Irish market 

for breaches of medicinal products legislation, a strong 

emphasis was placed on improving co-operation 

between the IMB’s Enforcement Section and other 

law enforcement agencies in Ireland and abroad. The 

IMB views effective international co-operation as a 

key element in the investigation and prevention of 

pharmaceutical crime. As evidence of its commitment, 

the IMB hosted one EU and one international meeting 

during 2004. 

The continuing threat to public health posed by 

counterfeit and substandard medicinal products, coupled 

with illegal Internet supply of prescription products, 

remain a particular focus of the IMB’s enforcement 

activities.

Quality Defects and Product 
Recalls 

Quality Defects in Human and 
Veterinary Medicinal Products
In April 2004, the IMB published a Guidance Note on 

Product Recalls for public consultation. During the 

public consultation period, a large number of useful 

contributions were received. The final document was 

launched at the IMB Inspectorate Information Day held 

in October. 

In 2004, the Inspectorate Department worked closely 

with other IMB departments when investigating quality 

defect issues. The IMB also continued to have strong ties 

with the Department of Agriculture and Food, which 

in 2004, as in previous years, brought the majority of 

quality defects relating to veterinary medicinal products 

to the IMB’s attention. 

A total of 310 quality defects in human and veterinary 

medicinal products were reported to, or identified by, the 

Inspectorate Department in 2004. This represents a slight 

increase from the 298 in 2003. 

In 2004, 268 of the quality defects reports recorded 

concerned medicinal products for human use and 42 

reports concerned veterinary medicinal products. It 

should be noted that a number of these quality defect 

reports resulted in product recalls being requested by the 

IMB during 2004 and a number resulted in the issuance 

of ‘Rapid Alert Notifications of a Quality Defect’ to other 

competent authorities by the IMB. 

A number of ‘Caution in Use Notifications’ and 

‘Dear Doctor Letters’ were also issued to healthcare 

professionals at the IMB’s request, in cases where 

cautionary advice on the use of a medicinal product was 

required. In addition, a number of Safety Notifications 

were issued to various professional bodies and trade 

representative groups in Ireland as a precautionary 

measure, in order to alert these bodies/groups and their 

members that possibly harmful, unauthorised medicinal 

products had been notified to the IMB by other 

countries and could be on the market in Ireland. The IMB 

appreciates the co-operation of all those involved who 

helped to disseminate these important precautionary 

alerts to their members in 2004.

The information presented in the Product Recalls section  

covers recalls which were requested by the IMB as a 

result of quality defect investigations.

The table below shows how the 2004 human medicinal 

products quality defects were classified by the IMB and, 

for comparison, the corresponding figures for 2001, 

2002 and 2003 are also presented. 

Human Medicinal Product Quality Defects

Year 2001 2002 2003 2004

Minor quality defects 21 24 89 69

Major quality defects 5 67 131 142

Critical quality defects 1 6 37 44

Number of quality defect 

reports not justified

3 4 8 13

Total 30 101 265 268

Of the 44 critical quality defect reports on human 

medicines in 2004, six affected Ireland, meaning that 

the defective product was either on the Irish market or 

it was manufactured in Ireland. One other critical quality 

defect was also classified as affecting Ireland because it 

had a specific Irish marketplace impact which required 

investigation by the IMB. 
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The remaining 37 reports of critical quality defects were 

received mainly from other competent authorities and 

related to products which were ultimately identified 

as not being on the Irish market and were not 

manufactured here. Details of the seven relevant critical 

quality defect reports are as follows:

• Due to contamination of some batches and concerns 

relating to assurance of sterility of other batches, 

no batches of a particular brand of flu vaccine were 

released to the Irish market for the 2004/2005 

winter season. At year end, the competent authority 

supervising the site of manufacture was overseeing 

that corrective measures were being put in place at 

the manufacturing site in question. An alternative 

supply of flu vaccine was sourced by the Department 

of Health and Children to cover the 2004/2005 

winter season.

• One batch of a compounded penicillin-based 

antibiotic product was involved in a product mix-up 

with a compounded non-penicillin-based antibiotic 

product during delivery of the product to a patient’s 

home. All unused units from this batch were recalled 

to patient level in Ireland, and corrective actions were 

put in place to prevent a recurrence of the incident. 

• A product for infusion was identified as having a 

potential lack of sterility assurance, which related to 

the manner in which the product was administered 

to patients. While the product was not authorised 

in Ireland, it was distributed to one hospital in 

Ireland on an unauthorised basis as per Article 

4(b) of the Medicinal Products (Licensing & Sale) 

Regulations, 1998, as amended. An immediate recall 

to hospital level of all remaining product and its 

related administration equipment was carried out, 

and the supplier confirmed that no new units of this 

product would be supplied in Ireland until the sterility 

assurance issue had been resolved.

• Four of the defect reports related to concerns over 

the sterility assurance and/or correct composition of 

total parenteral nutrition (TPN) products intended 

for infusion. These resulted in a number of recalls 

to hospital or patient level. In one instance, a 

manufacturer suspended production at the 

request of the IMB pending implementation of 

corrective actions. 

 Subsequently, following a strategic review of the 

operation, the manufacturer decided to discontinue 

manufacture. 

The table below shows how the 42 veterinary medicinal 

product quality defects for 2004 were classified by the 

IMB and, for comparison, the corresponding figures for 

2001, 2002 and 2003 are also presented. 

Veterinary Medicinal Product Quality Defects

Year 2001 2002 2003 2004

Minor quality defects 0 4 13 11

Major quality defects 1 19 16 25

Critical quality defects 0 0 2 6

Number of quality defect 

reports not justified

0 1 2 0

Total 1 24 33 42

Of the six critical quality defect reports investigated in 

2004 relating to veterinary medicinal products, one 

affected Ireland, as the defective product was on the 

Irish market. Details regarding this critical quality defect 

report are as follows:

• One batch of a veterinary immunological medicinal 

product was the subject of an out-of-specification 

result for potency, when tested by an Official 

Medicines Control Laboratory in another Member 

State. All units of this batch which were received 

into Ireland were quarantined and the batch was 

subsequently recalled. 

In 2004, 35% of the total number of quality defects 

reported and identified, concerned packaging and 

labelling issues (31% of the human medicine quality 

defect reports and 57% of the veterinary medicine 

quality defect reports).

Other quality defect investigations related to product 

safety concerns, particulate or other product 

contamination issues, non-compliance with specification, 

loss of stability, and a number of investigations 

concerned unauthorised products on the Irish market. 
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The reports of human medicinal product quality defects came from the following sources: 
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Recalls of Human and Veterinary 
Medicinal Products
A total of 82 recalls of medicinal products were 

requested by the IMB during 2004; 63 of these recalls 

related to human medicinal products and 19 were 

veterinary medicinal products. This represents a 20.5% 

increase over 2003, with veterinary recalls being the 

largest contributor to this increase. Packaging and 

labelling quality defect issues, as well as the distribution 

of unauthorised products, were the largest contributors 

to the total number of recalls. Some of the recalls are 

referred to above under ‘Quality Defects’. 

A large number of recall notifications were also received 

by the IMB in 2004 from competent authorities in 

other countries. Each of these reports were investigated 

to establish their potential implications for the Irish 

marketplace and of the 74 notifications received, 59 of 

these recall notifications were ultimately determined not 

to affect Ireland. 

The following tables show the total number and 

distribution of recalls of medicinal products which 

took place in Ireland in 2004, compared with 2003, 

2002 and 2001.

The reports of veterinary medicinal product quality defects come from the following sources:
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Human Medicinal Product Recalls:

Year 2001 2002 2003 2004

Total number 38 51 62 63

Breakdown of Human Medicinal Product Recalls:

Year 2001 2002 2003 2004

Packaging and / or labelling issues 15 15 25 19

Stability issues 5 6 3 9

Non-compliance with PA issues 1 6 3 4

Product safety concerns 3 8 7 5

Non-compliance with specification issues 7 7 5 2

Non-adherence with cold chain issues 0 3 0 0

Particulate or other contamination issues 0 2 1 1

Product mix-up issues 0 3 3 1

Unauthorised product issues 0 1 12 14

Lack of therapeutic efficacy issues 0 0 1 0

Other issues 7 9 2 8

Total number 38 51 62 63

Veterinary Medicinal Product Recalls:

Year 2001 2002 2003 2004

Total number 16 19 8 19

Breakdown of Veterinary Medicinal Product Recalls:

Year 2001 2002 2003 2004

Packaging and / or labelling issues 0 9 2 8

Stability issues 1 1 1 0

Non-compliance with VPA issues 4 1 1 0

Product safety concerns 0 1 0 0

Non-compliance with specification issues 0 0 0 2

Particulate or other contamination issues 0 7 0 0

Product mix-up issues 0 0 1 0

Unauthorised product issues 0 0 3 8

Other issues 11 0 0 1

Total number 16 19 8 19

Ir ish Medicines Board Annual Report 2004
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Sampling and Analysis of 
Medicinal and other Products
In 2004, a total of 210 product samples were analysed, 

or assessed, as part of the IMB’s sampling and analysis 

programme. The sampling and analysis programme 

operates at both national and European level, and the 

IMB is part of the Official Medicines Control Laboratory 

(OMCL) network, which operates in many countries. Our 

sampling and analysis activities are fully integrated with 

other related EU-wide programmes. In 2004 the IMB 

welcomed the opportunity to participate, for the first 

time, in the EU post-marketing sampling and analysis 

programme for products authorised via the Mutual 

Recognition Procedure. 

Analytical Testing

A total of 115 authorised medicinal products, active 

pharmaceutical ingredients (APIs), enforcement samples 

and other product samples were sampled from the Irish 

marketplace and sent for analytical testing in 2004.

Packaging and Labelling 
Assessment
This aspect of the sampling and analysis programme 

has become an extensive part of the IMB’s market 

surveillance work in recent years. Most of this work is 

carried out on a risk basis given the large number of 

packaging and labelling related quality defect issues 

identified annually via the IMB’s quality defect and recall 

programme. Other products were sampled and assessed 

as part of other IMB activities, for example, products 

associated with Classification Committee work.

A total of 86 authorised medicinal and other products 

were sampled in 2004.

Participation in EU Sampling and 
Analysis Activities

There are two main EU programmes in place namely, the 

programme for centrally authorised medicinal products 

(products with an EU marketing authorisation number) 

and products which are authorised via the Mutual 

Recognition Procedure.

With respect to centrally authorised medicinal products, 

in 2004 the IMB sampled four such products from the 

Irish marketplace for testing at OMCLs outside Ireland.

During 2004, the Public Analyst’s Laboratory, Galway, 

successfully completed two proficiency tests aimed at 

ensuring and measuring the technical competence of 

that laboratory. 

With respect to medicinal products authorised via 

the Mutual Recognition Procedure, in 2004 the IMB 

participated, for the first time, in the EU post-marketing 

sampling and analysis programme for these products. 

This is a work-sharing programme designed to reduce 

redundancy in market surveillance testing activities, 

and to make best use of available laboratory resources. 

Within this programme, the IMB analysed one medicinal 

product on behalf of Norway and two on behalf of 

Finland.

This programme represents a positive development in 

EU sampling and analysis activities, as it is a flexible 

and cost-effective means of increasing use of available 

laboratory and technical resources, while also increasing 

the amount of market surveillance carried out. This 

programme, like that for centrally authorised medicinal 

products, is also of benefit to marketing authorisation 

holders, as only one set of analytical methods and only 

one set of reference standards are required, regardless 

of how many countries are involved in the sampling and 

analysis exercise. 

Principal Findings from the 
2004 Sampling and Analysis 
Programme
In 2004, there were three main categories of findings. 

These related to out-of-specification results (of which the 

majority related to labelling non-compliances), analytical 

method deficiencies and general labelling issues which 

could lead to dispensing or patient use errors.

Out-of-specification results: 

As a result of the market surveillance work carried out 

via the IMB’s sampling and analysis programme, eight 

out-of-specification results were identified in 2004. 

Ir ish Medicines Board Annual Report 2004
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These deficiencies were investigated via the IMB’s 

quality defects and product recall programme, where 

appropriate, and were the subject of follow-up 

activities with the marketing authorisation holders or 

manufacturers concerned.

Analytical Method Deficiencies: 

In 2004, the analytical test methods and specifications 

used to measure the quality of 16 authorised medicinal 

products were found to be deficient. This amounted to 

a total of 26 individual method deficiencies, as some 

analytical test methods used were found to be deficient 

in more than one respect.

These issues were the subject of follow-up activities with 

the marketing authorisation holders or manufacturers 

concerned. 

General Labelling Issues: 

Packaging and labelling issues were sometimes identified 

which could cause confusion or difficulty during product 

use, or which could lead to dispensing errors. 

For example, in one case, the labelling showing the 

strength of the product could lead to misinterpretation 

as to whether the strength stated was ‘per ml’ or ‘per 

vial’. In these instances, the issues were forwarded 

to the appropriate licensing function within the IMB 

for consideration.

Acknowledgements: 

The IMB would like to acknowledge the assistance 

received from marketing authorisation holders, medicinal 

product and API manufacturers, and those involved 

in the wholesale distribution of medicinal products in 

relation to the provision of samples and supporting items 

required by the IMB as part of its sampling and analysis 

programme. The IMB would also like to thank the staff 

of the Public Analyst’s Laboratory, Galway, and the 

staff of the State Laboratory, Young’s Cross, Celbridge, 

Kildare, for their invaluable contributions to the IMB’s 

sampling and analysis programme. 

Enforcement

The IMB’s Enforcement Unit initiated 314 cases involving 

breaches of Medicinal Product Regulations during 2004 

as compared to 476 cases in 2003. The breakdown of 

cases in 2003 and 2004 is illustrated in the table above.

In 2004, there was a decrease in the number of 

wholesale and retail offences. This reflects the targeting 

of these sectors for compliance in 2002 and 2003. 

While offences relating to the import of medicinal 

products rose from 53% in 2003 to 63% in 2004, 

nominally there were 198 cases in 2004 as compared to 

250 cases in 2003. 

The number of breaches relating to advertising rose in 

percentages from 7% to 8% but fell from 33 instances 

in 2003 to 22 instances in 2004. Just under half of 

the advertisement offences related to advertising of 

prescription only medicinal products, while the remainder 

related to products making medicinal claims. 

During 2004, the IMB seized a total of 270,598 tablets, 

506,005 capsules, 10.552 litres of liquids and 39kgs of 

creams. The tablets seized were mostly anabolic steroids, 

DHEA and Ephedrine. The capsules seized contained 

sildenafil citrate, anabolic steroids (methandienone and 

androstendienodiol), prescription level vitamins and 

prescription only herbal medicinal products. The liquids 

seized were mostly anabolic steroids while the creams 

were mostly corticosteroids. 
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In 2004, the IMB hosted the first meeting of European 

enforcement officers in medicines agencies and the 

police who are responsible for the enforcement of 

medicinal products legislation. This was a successful 

meeting and included many delegates from the new 

accession states. The IMB also hosted the Permanent 

Forum on International Pharmaceutical Crime (PFIPC) 

during the year. An Information Day was also hosted 

specifically focusing on the smaller sized wholesalers 

and the larger retailers.

While the number of enforcement cases has dropped 

from the level recorded in 2003, the Enforcement Unit 

has focused and deployed resources to concentrate on 

more serious investigative issues. These included the 

investigation of prescription-only medicinal products 

for abuse purposes in the areas of sport and recreation 

as well as medicinal products for the treatment of 

serious illnesses. 

Continued participation by the IMB in the Council of 

Europe’s initiative on improving public health through 

the combating of counterfeit medicinal products reflects 

the IMB’s commitment to ensure that action is taken to 

prevent counterfeit products reaching the marketplace 

and patients. Counterfeit medicinal products pose a 

threat to public health and the IMB will continue to 

combat activity in this area.

The IMB continues to improve and enhance 

communication with other stakeholders. There is 

improved co-ordination between the international 

regulatory agencies to assist with internet multi-

jurisdiction operations. Illegal activity utilising the 

internet remains a threat to public health and IMB 

communication with other stakeholders is a valuable 

tool in tackling such illegal practices. 

Challenges for 2005
For 2005 the main focus of the IMB’s Inspection 

and Enforcement Department will centre on the 

implementation of the Blood Directive, 2002/98/EC 

and the implementation of the relevant aspects of the 

revised EU legislation for medicinal products for human 

and veterinary use. The department will also strive to 

integrate new activities assigned to the IMB, including 

controlled drugs licensing and inspection 

and pharmacovigilance inspection. 

A key priority for the department will continue to be the 

prevention of breaches of medicinal products legislation 

and the further fostering of national and international 

co-operation to assist in achieving this aim. 

Implementation of a new management structure within 

the Inspection and Enforcement Department will also 

be a key activity for 2005. In this regard, a review of the 

department was nearing completion at the end of 2004.
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MEDICAL DEVICES 
DEPARTMENT

Introduction
2004 saw a considerable increase in the workload in the 

area of vigilance and Notified Body issues. One of the 

major issues that arose in 2004 was the recall of Boston 

Scientific Express and Taxus stents from the marketplace. 

This required the Medical Devices Department to lead 

the investigation on behalf of our European colleagues 

as one of the main manufacturing sites was based in 

Ireland. The impact of the in vitro diagnostic legislation 

was also evident in 2004, as the legislation had now 

become mandatory. In addition, the first six months 

of 2004 witnessed a substantial amount of activity in 

relation to the Presidency of the EU. This responsibility 

then evolved through the latter half of the year with 

active involvement in the Troika. 

Registration
In 2004, manufacturers registered a total of 444 

medical devices with the IMB. A total of 345 in vitro 

diagnostic medical devices (IVDs) and 99 general medical 

devices (GMDs) were registered. The number of new 

organisations registered was 28. As expected, the 

number of registration notifications in 2004 decreased 

as manufacturers of low risk medical devices or IVDs 

need only notify the Competent Authority once that they 

are manufacturers of medical devices. The notifications 

placed on the register in 2004 were therefore new 

applications or amendments to existing notifications. 

Certificates of Free Sale 
In 2004, 295 Certificates of Free Sale were issued, 

an increase of 10% on 2003. 

Requests for certificates were received from 

manufacturers, authorised representatives and 

legal manufacturers in Ireland, Europe and the USA. 

All Certificate of Free Sale applications are now 

received electronically.

30

Ms. Ann O’Connor, 
Medical Devices Director
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Vigilance 
There was a continued increase in the number of 

vigilance reports received with 531 reports in 2004, 

an increase of 21% on the 2003 figure. 

Reports received from the Competent Authorities for 

medical devices in other Member States continue to 

dominate, with an increase of 46% on those received 

in 2003. Reports from manufacturers increased by 6%. 

A decrease in the number of user reports was evident, 

with the number of reports falling from 49 in 2003 to 

30 reports in 2004. During the course of 2004, the IMB 

issued 25 Competent Authority Reports to colleagues 

in other Member States. Over 50% of these reports 

related to field corrective actions conducted by Irish 

manufacturers or authorised representatives located 

in Ireland.

An increase of 168% in reports relating in vitro 

diagnostic devices was recorded. This was not 

unexpected as the IVD legislation became mandatory in 

December 2003. The majority of these vigilance reports 

related to general category IVDs. Incidents relating 

to Class IIa and Class IIb medical devices represented 

a significant number of the reports received. Single 

use devices and non-active implantable devices again 

presented as the product families with the more 

noteworthy number of reports in 2004. 
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The majority of completed investigations in 2004 

resulted in a user notification by either a recall or 

on site corrective action. One of the principal recalls 

conducted in 2004 was of a Class III drug eluting stent 

manufactured by Boston Scientific. An increase in the 

number of field corrective action relating to internal 

and external defibrillators was also noted in 2004. 

Several instances of ‘off-label use’ of some medical 

devices occurred. The IMB published two safety notices 

reminding the users of the importance of following the 

information for use provided by the manufacturer. 

These are available on the IMB website at www.imb.ie or 

www.medicaldevices.ie. 2004 saw the successful launch 

of the on-line vigilance reporting system and reporting 

is encouraged.

Notified Body Activities 
In 2004, the IMB conducted five Notified Body audits: 

one surveillance audit to the Medical Device Directive 

(MDD) and Active Implantable Medical Device Directive, 

one surveillance audit to the In vitro Diagnostic Medical 

Device Directive, and three observed audits on the 

Notified Body Auditors to the MDD. 

Following the IMB surveillance audit of the National 

Standards Authority of Ireland (NSAI), a number of 

non-compliances were raised. 

These non-compliances were satisfactorily addressed by 

the end of the year and a follow up audit is scheduled 

for Spring 2005. 

During 2004, designation scope of NSAI was reduced to 

more accurately reflect the current competency of NSAI 

in relation to the MDD and related Irish legislation. The 

Board of the IMB approved the proposed amendment 

to the scope of the designation of NSAI and this will 

be published in the Official Journal of the European 

Commission in early 2005. 

In 2004, in line with EU and national legislative changes, 

the NSAI now has responsibility for medical devices that 

are manufactured using tissues of animal origin. 

In vitro Diagnostic Medical 
Devices 
The IMB continued to work with the IVD sector in 

relation to IVD legislation, in particular discussing 

the impact of the IVD Directive on diagnostic testing 

with a number of hospital laboratories. One of the 

main concerns for hospitals was in relation to the 

interpretation of the IVD Directive for in-house or 

‘home-brew’ assays. In-house assays are used by 

laboratories and health institutions to provide diagnostic 

and reference services for patients outside their own 

legal entity. The IMB, along with other Member States, 

sought legal advice from the European Commission on 

whether in-house assays were within the scope of the 

IVD legislation. A copy of the legal advice was discussed 

at the Medical Devices Expert Group (MDEG) meeting 

in December 2004, where it was decided that this type 

of manufacturing did not fall within the scope of the 

legislation. 

Clinical Investigations 
One clinical investigation application was received in 

2004 and this was approved. Despite receiving many 

enquiries from manufacturers who may be considering 

commencing clinical investigations in Ireland, the number 

of submissions has decreased from previous years. A 

similar trend is occurring in other European countries. 

A number of pre-submission meetings were held with 

companies to identify issues that need to be considered. 
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Post Market Surveillance Activities
In 2004, a number of proactive post market surveillance 

visits were carried out on manufacturers of interventional 

vascular medical devices, as well as the continuation of 

the auditing programme of custom-made medical device 

manufacturers. One reactive audit was also carried out as 

a result of a recall of cardiac stents. 

The majority of compliance cases in 2004 were as a 

result of reactive issues. A market surveillance exercise 

was undertaken in relation to teeth whiteners. The 

general view now taken in Ireland and the EU is that 

such products, unless they meet the definition of a 

medical device, are not appropriately regulated under 

the medical devices legislation. Currently the EU 

Commission is amending the cosmetics legislation to 

provide clarification. More focus was also placed on the 

role of the distributor of medical devices. The lack of 

statutory control of distributors in this area continues 

to be of concern and the need to put this in place was 

discussed with the Department of Health and Children in 

2004 and will continue on the agenda in 2005. 

One major project that was undertaken in the latter 

half of 2004 was the development of a handbook in 

relation to manufacturing in the health services. This is 

a significant project as it is the first clarification given 

to the health services in Ireland and it provides the 

basis for compliance issues that may arise in healthcare 

institutions in the future. 

The Market Surveillance Operations Group (MSOG) 

compliance communication requests coming from 

European countries were also monitored and followed-

up during 2004.

Advisory Committee for Medical 
Devices 
The Advisory Committee for Medical Devices (ACMD) 

met three times during the year. The ACMD endorsed 

a number of documents namely:

(1) Guidance for women in relation to breast implants.

(2) Vigilance reporting flier for General Practitioners.

(3) Guidance Notes, as referenced under the 

publication section.

(4) Safety Notices, as referenced under the 

publication section.

Presidency 
As part of the Irish Presidency of the EU, the Medical 

Devices Department and the Department of Health 

and Children hosted the 13th Meeting of Competent 

Authorities for Medical Devices in January 2004. 

Representatives of the European Commission, Member 

States, Accession Countries and ETFA countries attended 

the meeting. The meeting consisted of in-depth 

discussions on medical device technologies in the field 

of cardiovascular health and medical software (e-health). 

Presentations were given on the Irish experience in 

regulating in vitro diagnostics and on Ireland’s newly 

developed electronic reporting system for registration 

and vigilance of medical devices. Specific attention 

was given to issues such as standardisation and the 

challenges posed by a range of new technologies 

including nanotechnology and imaging. A number 

of resolutions were taken in particular to: 

• Develop further policies for the evaluation and 

monitoring of regulation in relation to emerging 

technologies 

• Devote a specific workshop on emerging 

technologies such as nanotechnologies, tissue 

engineering, digital imaging/metabolic imaging and 

miniaturisation 

• Intensify work on medical software issues including 

incompatibility of software products, re-use of 

software and software evaluation. 

Troika
The department provided a significant contribution 

to the Troika during the second half of 2004. Assistance 

was provided to the Dutch Presidency, particularly 

in bringing forward the resolutions taken during the 

Irish presidency. 

Ir ish Medicines Board Annual Report 2004
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Publications 
Five Guidance note documents were published for 

stakeholders in 2004, namely:

Guidance Note 18: Guidance Note on Adverse 

Incident Reporting for In vitro 

Diagnostic Medical Devices.

Guidance Note 20: Guidance Note for Manufacturers 

of the General Class of In vitro 

Diagnostic Medical Devices 

regarding Compliance with the 

Requirements as outlined in 

S.I. No. 304 of 2001 European 

Communities (In vitro Diagnostic 

Medical Devices) Regulations, 

2001.

Guidance Note 21:  Instructions for Use of the On-Line 

Vigilance Reporting System for 

Healthcare Users.

Guidance Note 22: Instructions for Use of the On-Line 

Vigilance Reporting System for 

Industry Users.

A number of other published Guidance Notes were 

updated in 2004.

The department continued to issue a monthly circulation 

of safety and advisory notices for medical devices to the 

health services in Ireland. Eleven IMB Safety Notices, two 

Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and 53 Medicines 

and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (MHRA) 

Safety Notices were circulated. 

Of those safety notices published by the IMB, 30% 

related to product specific issues and 70% related to 

generic safety related issues. The IMB safety notices 

which were circulated in 2004 were on the following 

topics and are available on the IMB website (www.imb.ie 

or www.medicaldevices.ie):

• Blood Pressure and Vital Signs Patient Monitor 

DINAMAP Pro 100 - 400 Series.

• Cervical Halo Traction Apparatus.

• Switch Controlled (Electric) Height Adjustable Beds.

• The ‘Intended Purpose’ of a Medical Device.

• Commercial Automated Antimicrobial Susceptibility 

Tests and Disc Diffusion Tests for the Detection of 

VRSA.

• Instructions for Use provided by the Medical Device 

Manufacturer.

• Haemodialysis Equipment.

• Invasive Blood Pressure Monitoring Devices with 

Transducers.

• Sterile Devices.

• AccessAED PAD, AccessAED and AccessALS 

Automated External Defibrillator Devices.

• Tyco Healthcare Products.

Communication
During the year, staff from the department delivered 

17 external presentations to professional groups 

including the IEI, IMSTA, ACBI, IEQAS, IASSM, HPSG, 

and various hospitals and university courses in relation 

to the competent authority activities. Papers were also 

presented by way of invitation at the EU Commission 

Accession Countries Workshops in Estonia and the 

Netherlands.

European Meetings 
There was a 34% increase over 2003 in the number 

of meetings attended at EU level. The ever-increasing 

demand in this area is an issue that has been raised 

with the EU Commission during the course of the Irish 

Presidency and followed up again by the 

Dutch Presidency. 
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Introduction
The IMB’s Information Technology and Change 

Management Department is responsible for the 

development, maintenance and support of all hardware, 

communications systems and software utilised by the 

organisation. This includes over 40 different business 

software applications spanning the entire organisation, 

more than 150 desktop systems and over 20 servers. 

The basis for the information technology and change 

management programme is established in the Board’s 

IT Strategic Plan 2002. 

The IT department also has a role in organisational 

change management together with a significant internal 

IT training function, and the Director is the lead person 

for change management for the IMB. 

Technology Activities

Human Medicines Department
In line with the IT Strategic Plan, there was further 

enhancement to the licensing support systems within 

the human medicines area in 2004. The use of workflow 

technology has transformed the operation of the Human 

Medicines Department and plans to extend its usage into 

other areas of the Board commenced in 2004.

It was intended to commence extranet services to 

stakeholders in 2004, however impending legislative 

changes together with a number of technology 

initiatives at European level had a significant impact on 

systems design and it was subsequently rescheduled for 

development in 2005. 

Drug Safety
The IMB continued to exchange drug safety data 

with the EMEA in 2004 and a formal schedule for the 

communication of information to Eudravigilance was 

agreed with the EMEA at the end of 2004. Testing of 

the Eudravigilance system continued throughout the 

year and the IMB played an active role on the various 

European groups working on the development and 

implementation of the system.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 
& CHANGE MANAGEMENT 
DEPARTMENT

Ms. Suzanne McDonald, 
Director of IT and Change Management
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Medical Devices
With the successful implementation of a system to 

support the online registration of medical devices, a 

further project was undertaken to extend functionality 

to include online vigilance reporting from healthcare 

professionals and industry representatives. This phase of 

the project was developed and tested during 2004 with 

its roll out scheduled for early 2005. 

Controlled Drugs
An online system was developed to provide the industry 

with facilities to apply for import and export licenses of 

controlled substances. This system was developed and 

tested in 2004. It will be further enhanced in 2005 to 

include new functionality. 

EU Activities (Presidency)
The first half of 2004 was a very busy period for 

the IMB and this was reflected in the activities of the 

IT department. 

The IMB acted as Chair of the EU committee concerned 

with the tracking and management of applications 

handled via the Mutual Recognition procedure. This 

CTS Group met four times over the period of the Irish 

Presidency.

In May 2004, a session dedicated to sharing information 

on technology initiatives within regulatory agencies was 

held. At this meeting a presentation of IMB technology 

was made to Member States, the European Medicines 

Evaluation Agency and the European Commission. 

This presentation focused on the development and 

implementation of workflow systems to support the 

licensing activities of the Board. In the second half of 

2004 organisations from France, The Netherlands, 

Denmark and Belgium visited the IMB to receive 

detailed briefing on systems implemented across 

the organisation. 

IMB Website
The IMB website continued to attract a large number of 

visits in 2004. Feedback from users and suggestions for 

improvement are encouraged and can be forwarded to 

helpdesk@imb.ie. We continue to review the content, 

navigation and functionality with a view to continually 

enhancing it as a user-friendly resource.

The website has become a key mechanism to 

communicate with our stakeholders and this is reflected 

in the fact that over 150 new information items were 

published on the site in 2004.

Human Medicines Product Listing
A listing of all licensed human medicinal products 

is published on the IMB website (www.imb.ie). This 

alphabetic listing of approximately 7,600 licensed 

products is updated on a quarterly basis. The listing 

contains the authorisation number, product name, 

strength and dosage form together with the name 

of the authorisation holder.

Veterinary Medicines Product 
Listing
A list of all licensed veterinary medicinal products is 

also published on the IMB website (www.imb.ie).  

This alphabetic listing of approximately 1,500 licensed 

products is updated on a monthly basis and contains 

the product name, authorisation number, product 

description and method of sale. As part of our 

commitment to improved information for stakeholders 

the Summary of Product Characteristics (SPCs) for 

products handled by the IMB in 2004 were published 

and are available through the product listing page on 

the website. It is planned to complete the publication 

of SPCs for veterinary products in 2005.

Technical Support – External 
The IT department received a number of requests from 

external organisations for technical advice and support in 

2004. The majority of these requests came from similar 

regulatory bodies within the EU. Where feasible the 

IT department participated in the provision of support 

services to relevant external bodies. During 2004, both 

Malta and Norway received technical support from the 

IMB IT department.

Change Management 
In line with the Board’s focus on quality through 

continuous improvement, a number of organisational 

projects commenced in 2004. The first project 

concentrated on the development of the Inspectorate 

and Enforcement Department. 
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Changes in legislation together with new business 

activities will place additional demands on the resources 

and structure of the department. These changes were 

factored into the planning process for this department. 

Organisational changes resulting from this project will 

be implemented in 2005.

Work also commenced on the development of the 

pharmacovigilance unit in Q4/2005. Any changes 

proposed under this project will be implemented in 

2005. In addition, ongoing support was provided to 

the restructuring of the Human Medicines Department.

EU Projects
The Irish Medicines Board continues to play a very active 

role in the various EU initiatives relating to technology. 

In 2004, the IT department actively participated in the 

following project groups: 

• Esubmission Technical Implementation Group

• EuroPharm

• EudraVigilance

• EudraCT

• EudraNet

• EudraSecurity 

• EudraLink

• Product Information Management (PIM)

• CTS/EudraTrack

• EudaMed.

Ir ish Medicines Board Annual Report 2004
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The Irish Medicines Board (the IMB) was established 

under the terms of the Irish Medicines Board Act, 1995, 

and is governed by a Board which was appointed by 

the Minister for Health and Children. The Board of 

the IMB (the Board) consists of a chairman and eight 

unremunerated non executive members.

The IMB is committed to the highest standards of 

Corporate Governance and has implemented the 

Department of Finance “Code of Practice for the 

Governance of State Bodies”. This code of practice, 

which was issued to the Irish Medicines Board in January 

2002, incorporates many of the principles under which 

the IMB operates, taking account of the size and legal 

nature of the organisation. The IMB has in place an 

extensive Code of Conduct for all staff, committees and 

Board members. The IMB applies the highest standards 

of disclosure and transparency in respect of interests held 

by staff, committees and Board members.

Audit Committee
The IMB has established an audit committee comprising 

the Chairman, three Board members and the Chief 

Executive, which met on three occasions during 2004. 

This committee is responsible for reviewing internal 

control matters, together with any other issues raised by 

the external auditors, the Board or management. The 

external auditor meets annually with the committee to 

brief them on the outcome of the external audit. The 

committee in 2004, in response to the growing size and 

complexity of the organisation, took the decision to 

appoint an internal auditor to the Board. This process 

was completed in early 2005 and Crowleys DFK have 

been appointed as internal auditor to the Board for an 

initial period of three years. The audit committee have 

also been involved with the implementation of quality 

systems as described below.

Quality Systems
During 2004, the Finance Section of the IMB 

commenced the process of implementing standard 

operating procedures (SOPs) under the Quality 

Management System. This process involved a critical 

review and analysis of internal controls and processes 

throughout the section with particular emphasis on risk 

management. When completed in 2005, this system will 

underpin the internal control environment and will feed 

into the internal audit process and ultimately into the 

audit committee.

Remuneration Policy - Board 
Members and Executive Directors
Remuneration and travel expenses paid to Board 

members are disclosed in note 17 to the Financial 

Statements. The Chairman receives remuneration as 

directed by the Minister for Health and Children in 

accordance with the Irish Medicines Board Act, 1995. 

Other Board members receive travel expenses in 

accordance with circulars issued by the Department of 

Health and Children. The Chief Executive is remunerated 

in accordance with guidelines issued from Government 

and other Executive Directors are paid in accordance 

with Department of Health and Children pay scales. 

Remuneration Committee
The IMB has established a remuneration committee 

as a sub committee of the Board to review the 

remuneration of the Chief Executive in accordance 

with guidelines issued by the Department of Finance 

and the Department of Health and Children. The 

Chief Executive’s remuneration is disclosed net of 

Superannuation contributions in note 18 to the 

Financial Statements.

Internal Control
The Board is responsible for the IMB’s systems of internal 

control. Such systems can only provide reasonable and 

not absolute assurance against material misstatement 

or loss. The systems of internal controls in use in the 

Irish Medicines Board are described more fully in the 

Chairman’s report on page 41.

Going Concern
The Board has a reasonable expectation, at the time 

of approving the Financial Statements, that the IMB 

has adequate resources to continue its operations for 

the foreseeable future. For this reason, it continues 

to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the 

Financial Statements.

Corporate Governance
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1. The Board is responsible for the body’s system of 

internal financial control.

2. The IMB system of internal control can provide only 

reasonable and not absolute assurance against 

material error, misstatement or loss.

3. The Board confirms that there is an ongoing process 

for identifying, evaluating and managing the 

significant risks faced by the IMB. This process is 

regularly reviewed by the Board via the report of the 

Chief Executive.

 Management are responsible for the identification 

and evaluation of significant risks applicable to 

their areas of business together with the design 

and operation of suitable internal controls. These 

risks are assessed on a continuing basis and may 

be associated with a variety of internal or external 

sources including control breakdowns, disruption 

in information systems, natural catastrophe and 

regulatory requirements.

 Management report fortnightly on operational 

issues and risks and how they are managed to 

the Management Committee. The Management 

Committee’s role in this regard is to review on behalf 

of the Board the key risks inherent in the affairs 

of the IMB and the system of actions necessary to 

manage such risks and to present their findings on 

significant matters via the Chief Executive to the 

Board.

 The Chief Executive reports to the Board on behalf 

of the executive management on significant 

changes in the work of the IMB and on the external 

environment, which affects significant risks. The 

Director of Finance and Corporate Affairs provides 

the Board with monthly financial information, which 

includes key performance indicators. Where areas 

for improvement in the system are identified, the 

Board considers the recommendations made by the 

Management Committee.

 

 An appropriate control framework is in place with 

clearly defined matters which are reserved for 

Board approval only or, as delegated by the Board, 

for appropriate Executive approval. The Board has 

delegated the day-to-day management of the IMB 

and established appropriate limits for expenditure 

authorisation to the Executive. The Chief Executive is 

responsible for implementation of internal controls, 

including internal financial control.

 The system on internal financial control is monitored 

in general by the processes outlined above. In 

addition, the Audit Committee of the Board reviews 

specific areas of internal control as part of their terms 

of reference.

4. The Audit Committee of the Board has satisfactorily 

reviewed the effectiveness of the system of internal 

control on behalf of the Board. The Board of the IMB 

did not formally review these systems in 2004 but 

plan to carry out such a review in 2005.

________________________ 

Mr. Pat O’Mahony  

Chairman to the Board

Report of the Chairman of the Irish Medicines Board
regarding the assessment of internal financial controls of a State body for 
the year ended 31st December 2004
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The Board is required by the Irish Medicines Board Act, 

1995 to prepare financial statements for each financial 

year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs 

of the Irish Medicines Board and of its surplus or deficit 

for that period.

In preparing those statements the Board is required to:

• Select suitable accounting policies and apply them 

consistently

• Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable 

and prudent

• Disclose and explain any material departures from 

applicable accounting standards, and

• Prepare the financial statements on a going concern 

basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 

Irish Medicines Board will continue in existence.

The Board is responsible for keeping proper accounting 

records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at 

any time the financial position of the Irish Medicines 

Board and which enable it to ensure that the financial 

statements comply with the IMB Act and with 

accounting standards generally accepted in Ireland. It is 

also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Irish 

Medicines Board and hence for taking reasonable steps 

for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 

irregularities.

 

On behalf of the Board

Chairman

Board Member

Statement of Board Members’ Responsibilities
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I have audited the financial statement on pages 44 to 53 under section 18 of the Irish Medicines Board Act, 1995.

Respective Responsibilities of the Members of the Board and the Comptroller and 

Auditor General

The accounting responsibilities of the Members of the Board are set out on page 42. It is my responsibility, based on 

my audit, to form an independent opinion of the financial statements presented to me and to report on them.

I review whether the statement on the system of internal financial control on page 41 reflects the Board’s compliance 

with applicable guidance on corporate governance and report any material instance where it does not do so, 

or if the statement is misleading or inconsistent with other information of which I am aware from my audit of the 

financial statements.

Basis of Audit Opinion

In the exercise of my function as Comptroller and Auditor General, I conducted my audit of the financial statements 

in accordance with auditing standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board and by reference to the special 

considerations which attach to State bodies in relation to their management and operation.

An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements.  It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made in the preparation of 

the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the circumstances of the Board, 

consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

I planned and performed my audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations that I considered necessary to 

provide me with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material 

misstatement whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error.  In forming my opinion I also evaluated the 

overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements.

Opinion

In my opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the Board and the financial statements, which are in 

agreement with them and have been properly prepared in accordance with accounting policies laid down by the 

Minister for Health and Children, give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Board at 31 December 2004 

and of it’s income and expenditure and cash flow for the year then ended.

John Purcell 

Comptroller and Auditor General

28 July 2005

Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General
for presentation to the Houses of the Oireachtas
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Historical Cost Convention
The Financial Statements are prepared in accordance 

with generally accepted accounting principles under the 

historical cost convention and comply with the financial 

reporting standards of the Accounting Standards Board, 

with the exception of superannuation - see note below.

Income Recognition
Income is recognised in the financial statements on the 

following basis:

• In the case of applications for Product Authorisations 

(new applications, variations to existing 

authorisations, or transfers) and Clinical Trial 

applications, income is recognised in the financial 

statements when a valid application form is received. 

• In the case of Wholesale and Manufacturing Licences 

and maintenance of Product Authorisations, fees are 

payable annually and a full year’s income is accrued 

in each financial year.

Expenditure Recognition
Expenditure is recognised in the financial statements on 

an accruals basis as it is incurred.

Reporting Currency and Currency 
Translation
The Financial Statements are prepared in euros.

Transactions in currencies other than euro are recorded 

at the rates ruling at the date of the transactions or at 

a contracted date. Monetary assets and liabilities are 

translated into euro at the balance sheet date or at a 

contracted date. Exchange differences are dealt with in 

the income and expenditure account. 

Tangible Assets
Tangible Assets excluding Premises 

Tangible assets excluding premises are stated at cost less 

accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated 

in order to write off the cost of tangible assets to their 

estimated residual values over their estimated useful lives 

by equal annual instalments.

The estimated useful lives of tangible assets by reference 

to which depreciation has been calculated are as follows:

Leasehold Property: Unexpired portion of the lease

Fixtures and Fittings: 5 years

Computer Equipment: 3 years

Premises 

The IMB purchased its premises at Block A, Earlsfort 

Centre, Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2 on 22 December 

2004. The value capitalised was equal to the purchase 

price plus those costs directly attributable to bringing the 

asset into use.

No depreciation has been calculated on the value of 

premises, as the remaining useful economic life is 

estimated to be greater than 50 years. An impairment 

review was carried out at year end and the value of 

premises was considered to be appropriate.

Taxation
The Irish Medicines Board is exempt from liability to 

Corporation Tax under Section 32 of the Finance Act, 

1994.

Debtors
Known bad debts are written off and specific provision 

is made for any amount the collection of which is 

considered doubtful. A further general provision is also 

maintained.

Superannuation
The superannuation scheme operated by the Irish 

Medicines Board is in accordance with the Local 

Government (Superannuation Revision) (Consolidation) 

Scheme, 1986. It is an unfunded statutory scheme and 

benefits are met from current income as they arise.

The charge to salaries and wages is stated gross 

of superannuation deductions of €309,557 (2003 

- €384,152). The surplus for the year on page 46 is 

then shown both before and after superannuation 

transactions for the year. The income and expenditure 

reserve on the balance sheet is split between retained 

reserves and superannuation reserves in note 11.

Accounting Policies
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By direction of the Minister for Health and Children, 

the provisions of FRS 17 are not being complied with. 

Library
No value has been placed on the books, audio-visual 

resources and electronic databases in the library. 

Expenditure on these items is written off in the year 

in which it is incurred.

Leases
All leases are treated as operating leases and the rentals 

thereunder are charged to the Income and Expenditure 

account on a straight line basis over the lease period.

Accounting Policies
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Statement of Income and Expenditure
For the year ended 31 December 2004

Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses
For the year ended 31 December 2004

 Note 2004 2003 

  € €

Fee Income  2 12,375,088  8,982,034  

Other Income 3 2,811,842  1,947,882 

  15,186,930   10,929,916 

Salaries and Wages 4 8,424,547   7,435,944  

Other Operating Costs 5 4,861,407   3,377,434  

Depreciation 1 988,135   821,735 

  14,274,089   11,635,113

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year before write 

back of Superannuation Contributions  912,841 (705,197) 

Staff Superannuation Contributions   309,557   384,152 

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year  1,222,398 (321,045)

Balance brought forward  4,567,772   4,888,817 

Balance carried forward   5,790,170   4,567,772 

All income and the surplus for the year arises from continuing activities. 

Chairman Board Member

The accounting policies on pages 44 to 45  and the notes on pages 49 to 53 form part of the financial statements. 

 Note 2004 2003 

  € €

Retained Surplus/(Deficit) For The Year  1,222,398  (321,045) 

Unrealised Gains/(Losses) For The Year   -   - 

Total Recognised Gains/(Losses)  1,222,398  (321,045)
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Balance Sheet
As at 31 December 2004

 Note 2004 2003 

  € €

Tangible Assets 1 21,594,493   1,396,114 

    

Current Assets 

Debtors and Prepayments 6 2,115,892   1,920,228  

Stock of Stationery  5,611   5,468  

Cash at Bank and in Hand 12  2,759,550   1,584,523  

Short Term Deposits  3,771,239   2,728,323 

  8,652,292   6,238,542 

    

Creditors - Amounts falling due within one year 

Creditors and Accruals 7 4,056,615   3,066,884 

Net Current Assets  4,595,677   3,171,658 

    

Long Term Liabilities 

Mortgage 13  20,400,000   - 

    

Total Net Assets  5,790,170   4,567,772 

    

Financed by 

Income and Expenditure Reserve 11 5,790,170   4,567,772

  5,790,170   4,567,772 

    

 

    

 

Chairman Board Member   

  

   

The accounting policies on pages 44 to 45 and the notes on pages 49 to 53 form part of the financial statements.
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Cashflow Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2004

 Note 2004 2003 

  € €

Reconciliation of surplus to net cash 

inflow from operating activities    

 

Surplus/(Deficit) for Year  1,222,398 (321,045)

Depreciation Charge  988,135 821,735

(Increase)/Decrease in Debtors  (195,664) 516,637

(Increase) in Stocks  (143) (1,509)

Increase in Creditors - amounts falling 

due within one year  989,731 272,046

Deposit Interest   (71,943) (70,042)

Bank Interest and Charges  21,601 5,634

Loss/(Gain) on Disposal of Fixed Assets  53,588 (2,540)

Net Cash Inflow from Operating Activities  3,007,703 1,220,916

Cash Flow Statement

Net Cash Inflow from Operating Activities  3,007,703 1,220,916

    

Return on Investments and Servicing of Finance 8 50,342 64,408

Capital Expenditure 8 (21,240,102) (1,583,621)

Management of Liquid Resources 8 (1,042,916) (543,634)

Long Term Finance  20,400,000 -

Increase/(Decrease) In Cash   1,175,027 (841,931)

    

Reconciliation of net cash flow to 

movement in net funds

  

Increase/(Decrease) In Cash  1,175,027 (841,931)

Increase In Short Term Deposits  1,042,916 543,634

    

Change In Net Funds  2,217,943 (298,297)

Net Funds at start of year  4,312,846 4,611,143

    

Net funds at end of year 9 6,530,789 4,312,846

    

    

   

The accounting policies on pages 44 to 45 and the notes on pages 49 to 53 form part of the financial statements.   
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2004

1 Tangible Assets Fixtures and Computer Leasehold  Premises  Total 
 Fittings Equipment Property  

 € € € € €

 Cost 
Balance as at 1 January 2004  889,680  3,307,394   75,373   -  4,272,447

 Additions for the year  46,637  810,715  -  20,383,000  21,240,352 
Disposals for the year  -  (7,260) (75,373)  -  (82,633)

 As at 31 December 2004  936,317   4,110,849   -   20,383,000  25,430,166

 Depreciation      
Balance as at 1 January 2004  659,714   2,195,084   21,535   -  2,876,333

    

 Charge for the year  93,750   894,385   -   -  988,135

 Disposals for the year  -  (7,260) (21,535)  -  (28,795)

 As at 31 December 2004  753,464   3,082,209   -   -  3,835,673

 Net Book value 
at 31 December 2004  182,853  1,028,640   -   20,383,000  21,594,493

    

 Net Book value at 1 January 2004  229,966   1,112,310   53,838   -  1,396,114

   2004 2003 

 Note € €

2 Fee Income

 Clinical Trials  117,390   148,365  

Human Medicine - National Fees   5,384,816   4,600,624  

Human Medicine - European Fees  3,822,228   2,263,252  

Veterinary Medicine - National Fees  916,180   649,439  

Veterinary Medicine - European Fees  324,100  213,753  

Inspectorate Department  1,719,402  1,051,275  

Medical Devices  90,972   55,326 

   12,375,088   8,982,034 

     

Fee Income can also be analysed as follows:

 Income recognised on a cash receipts basis  9,014,482   6,302,754  

Income recognised on an accruals basis  3,360,606   2,679,280

   12,375,088   8,982,034 

   

3 Other Income

 Department of Health and Children Funding  2,289,781   1,590,351  

Maltese Twinning Income 22 180,330  235,699  

Czech Twinning Income   21,920   -  

IT Income  66,000   -  

ISOP Conference Income   173,230  -  

Conference Fee Income  62,226  49,250  

Deposit Interest  71,943  70,042  

(Loss)/Gain on Disposal of Fixed Assets  (53,588) 2,540

   2,811,842  1,947,882
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   2004 2003 

  € €

4 Salaries and Wages    

Salaries and Wages   7,686,971   6,814,517  

Social Welfare Costs   737,576   621,427 

   8,424,547   7,435,944 

 The average number of staff employed during the 

year was 169 (2003 - 159). 

 Staff employed at 31 December 2004 can be analysed 

across the following departments:    

 Medical Technical   12   12  

Pharmaceutical Technical   25   23  

Veterinary Technical   7   5  

Inspectorate Technical   11   9  

Medical Devices Technical   6   5  

Enforcement Technical   7   6  

Herbal Medicines Technical   1   1  

Controlled Drugs Technical   1   1  

Administrative and Operational Staff   110   98  

Pensioners   5   4 

    185   164 

5 Operating Costs  € €

 Accommodation Costs   2,086,719   972,250  

Travel, Representation and Training   1,175,755   666,500  

Legal & Professional Fees   133,684   300,619  

Stationery, Publications and Postage   241,488   257,962  

Other Operating Costs   1,223,761   1,180,103 

    4,861,407   3,377,434 

6 Debtors (all due within one year)

 Trade Debtors   1,605,299   569,886 

Prepayments   172,398   135,705  

Other Debtors   338,195   1,214,637 

    2,115,892   1,920,228 

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2004
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   2004 2003 

  € €

7 Creditors (amounts falling due within one year)

 Trade Creditors   657,225   478,934  

Accruals   2,991,545   2,587,950  

VAT   407,845   - 

   4,056,615   3,066,884 

8 Gross Cash Flows

 Returns on Investment and Servicing of Finance:    

Deposit Interest   71,943   70,042  

Bank Interest and Charges  (21,601) (5,634)

   50,342   64,408 

 

 Capital Expenditure:    

Payments to acquire Tangible Fixed Assets  (21,240,352) (1,586,161)

 Receipts from sales of Tangible Fixed Assets  250  2,540 

   (21,240,102) (1,583,621)

 

 Management of Liquid Resources:    

Payments to acquire Short Term Deposits  (1,042,916) (543,634)

   (1,042,916) (543,634)

9 Analysis of Changes in Net Funds    

Cash at Bank and in Hand    2,759,550   1,584,523  

Short Term Deposits   3,771,239   2,728,323

   6,530,789  4,312,846 

10 Administration Expenses

 Surplus for the year was calculated having charged:

 Auditor’s Remuneration   13,200   12,000 

11 Income and Expenditure Reserves

 The Income and Expenditure Reserve disclosed in the 

Balance Sheet on page 47 comprises the following :    

Retained Reserves   4,038,023   3,125,182  

Staff Superannuation Contributions   1,752,147   1,442,590 

   5,790,170   4,567,772 

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2004
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   2004 2003 

  € €

12 Cash and Bank Balances

 Current Account Balances   64,494   253,939  

Deposit Account Balances   2,693,873   1,328,281  

Cash on Hand   1,183   2,303 

    2,759,550   1,584,523 

13 Long Term Liabilities

 Mortgage

 On 22 December 2004 the Board purchased its premises at Block A, Earlsfort Centre, Earlsfort  Terrace, Dublin 2. 

The purchase was financed by way of a mortgage, secured on the premises,  of €20,400,000 over 20 years from 

Bank of Ireland Corporate Lending.    

 The Irish Medicines Board is committed to making the following capital repayments  on its mortgage :  

  

- within one year   340,000   -

- between one and five years   1,360,000   -

- after five years   18,700,000   - 

    20,400,000   - 

14 Interest Rate Exposure

 The IMB have taken all necessary steps to minimise its interest rate exposure by fixing two thirds of the 

borrowings for periods of 5 and 10 years. The balance of the interest exposure is largely offset by cash reserves. 

For 2005 it is estimated that the net borrowings for which an interest rate  exposure may arise is €1,800,000.

15 Financial Commitments

Operating Leases

Amounts payable during the next twelve months in respect of leases which expire

- within one year   -   - 

- between one and five years   -   2,300 

- after five years (in respect of Alexandra House)   236,000   -

- after five years (in respect of Block A)   -   606,300 

   236,000   608,600 

     

The operating lease amount includes an annual commitment of €236,000 in respect of the Board’s premises at 

Alexandra House, Earlsfort Centre, Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2. 

 As shown in note 13 above, the IMB purchased Block A on 22 December 2004, which is why no further lease 

obligations exist in respect of that premises.    

 On 22 December 2004 the IMB signed a leasehold interest with 17 years remaining in respect of the 5th floor, 

Alexandra House, Earlsfort Centre, Dublin 2.    

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2004
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   2004 2003 

  € €

16 Capital Commitments

 Contracted For (Contract Signed)  343,000 550,000 

Not Contracted For  323,000 223,400

   666,000 773,400

17 Board Remuneration

 Chairman’s Salary   24,022   23,053  

Board Member’s Travel Expenses   15,406   11,438

   39,428   34,491

18 Staff Remuneration

 Chief Executive’s Remuneration (Stated net of Superannuation Contributions)  130,973   118,490 

   130,973   118,490 

19 Related Party Transactions

 There have been no transactions with related parties which require disclosure under Financial Reporting 

Standard 8.    

20 Prompt Payment Of Accounts

 The Irish Medicines Board (IMB) confirms that it is complying with EU law in relation to  prompt payments 

of account.    

21 Exchange Rates

 The exchange rates used in preparing these Financial Statements were as follows:

 2004 No Sterling cash balances held as at 31/12/04.    

2004 No Maltese cash balances held as at 31/12/04.    

2003 €1 = STG £0.6947    

2003 €1 = LM 0.4284

22 Maltese Twinning Income

 This arose as a result of a twinning exercise carried out by the IMB in order to help establish a medicines agency 

in Malta, which was funded by the European Union.    

 

23 Approval of Financial Statements

 The Financial Statements were approved by the Board on 27 April 2005.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2004
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APPENDIX I :  MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
MEMBERS AND COMMITTEES

Management Committee
Mr. Pat O’Mahony - Chief Executive

Dr. J.G. Beechinor - Director of Veterinary Medicines 

Dr. Joan Gilvarry - Director of Human Medicines

Mr. John Lynch - Director of Compliance

Ms. Suzanne McDonald - Director of IT and Change 

Management

Dr. J. Michael Morris - Senior Scientific Advisor

Ms. Ann O’Connor - Director of Medical Devices

Ms. Rita Purcell - Director of Finance and Corporate 

Affairs

Advisory Committee for Human 
Medicines

Prof. Kevin O’Malley (Chairman) 

(Resigned 24 November 2004)

Dr. Kevin Connolly

Dr. Tom McGuinn

Ms. Eugenie Canavan

Prof. Desmond Fitzgerald

Dr. Mary Horgan

Dr. Patrick Sullivan

Dr. Rory Lehane

Prof. John Kelly

Dr. Bernard Silke

Prof. Ted Dinan

Advisory Committee for Veterinary 
Medicines
Mr. P.J. O’Connor (Chairman)

Mr. Paul Mulville

Mr. Tom McGuinn

Mr. John McArdle

Mr. Rory Breathnach

Ms. Eugenie Canavan

Mr. Timothy Kyne

Mr. Desmond Leadon

Mr. Thomas Barragry

Mr. Pat Brangan

Dr. Anne Cullinane

Dr. Kevin O’Farrell

Clinical Trial Sub-Committee 
of Advisory Committee for Human 
Medicines
Dr. Patrick Sullivan (Chairman)

Prof. Tim O’Brien

Dr. Liam. T. Bannan

Dr. Tom Pierce

Prof. David Bouchier-Hayes

Dr. John Taffe

Dr. Paul Browne

Dr. Pat Manning

Prof. Ted Dinan

Prof. Sidney Lowry

Advisory Committee for 
Medical Devices
Mr. Wilfrid J. Higgins (Chairman)

Dr. Geoffrey Chadwick

Ms. Maureen D’Arcy

Dr. John Keogh

Prof. Robert McConnell

Dr. Brendan McCormack

Dr. Tim McGloughlin

Ms. Aideen Murphy

Dr. John O’Mullane

Ms. Maebh Smith

Prof. W. Arthur Tanner

Prof. Wil van der Putten
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Expert Sub-Committee of the 
Advisory Committee for Human 
Medicines 
Dr. D. Brosnahan

Dr. A. Bruzzi

Dr. B. Buckley

Dr. Colin Buckley

Dr. O. Carey 

Prof. M. Clynes

Dr. E. Colhoun

Prof. T. Dinan

Dr. N. Dowd

Dr. S. Eustace

Dr. G. Duffy

Dr. Linda Fenelon

Prof. M. Fitzgerald

Dr. S. Flint

Dr. T. Fulchor

Prof. D. Fitzgerald

Dr. O. Hardiman

Dr. O. Hensey

Prof. I. Hillary

Dr. M. Horgan

Prof. H. Humphreys 

Dr. G.D. Hurley

Dr. K. Kelleher

Dr. Mary Keogan

Dr. L. Kyne

Dr. J. McCaffrey 

Dr. P. McCormack

Mr. T. Mc Guinn

Dr. D. McInerney

Dr. M. McKenna

Dr. E. McNamara

Prof. K. Mills

Dr. J. Murray

Dr. F. Murray

Prof. T. O’Brien

Prof. J. O’Connor

Dr. R. O’Connor

Dr. V. O’Donoghue

Dr. C. Power

Dr. J. Redmond

Dr. M. Rogers

Dr. M. Scallon

Prof. F. Shanahan

Prof. B.L. Sheppard

Dr. O. Smith

Dr. J. Stack

Dr. B. Sweeney

Dr. D. Veale
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ADR: Adverse Drug Reaction

AIMD: Active Implantable Medical Device

APHA: Animal and Plant Health Association

API: Active Pharmaceutical Ingredient

APMI: Association of Pharmaceutical  

Manufacturers of Ireland

CA: Competent Authority

COMP: Committee for Orphan Medicinal Products

CPMP:  Committee for Proprietary Medicinal Products 

CJD: Creutzfeldt Jakob Disease 

CTD: Common Technical Document

CVMP: Committee for Veterinary Medicinal Products

DAF: Department of Agriculture and Food 

DoHC: Department of Health and Children

EC: European Community 

ECTD: Electronic Common Technical Document

EDQM: European Directorate for Quality of Medicines

EEA: European Economic Area

EMEA: European Agency for the Evaluation of 

Medicinal Products

EU: European Union

FDA: Food and Drug Administration

FEDESA: European Federation of Animal Health

FOI: Freedom of Information

GCP: Good Clinical Practice

GMD: General Medical Device

GMP: Good Manufacturing Practice 

HIV: Human Immunodeficiency Virus

HRT: Hormone Replacement Therapy

IAHS: Irish Association of Health Stores

ICH: International Conference on Harmonisation

IHTA: Irish Health Trade Association

IMB:  Irish Medicines Board

IMDA: Irish Medical Devices Association

IPCMF: Irish Pharmaceutical and Chemical 

Manufacturers Federation

IPHA: Irish Pharmaceutical Healthcare Association

IVD: In Vitro Diagnostic

MA: Marketing Authorisation

MAH: Marketing Authorisation Holder

MCA: Medicines Control Agency

MDA: Medical Devices Agency

MHRA: Medical Healthcare Regulatory Agency

MR: Mutual Recognition

MRA: Mutual Recognition Agreement

MRL: Maximum Residue Limit

NBOG: Notified Bodies Operations Group

NDAB: National Drugs Advisory Board

NSAI: National Standards Authority of Ireland

NSAID: Non Steroidal Anti Inflammatory Drug

PA: Product Authorisation

PERF: Pan European Regulatory Forum

Ph.Eur.: European Pharmacopoeia

PhVWP: Pharmacovigilance Working Party

PIC/S: Pharmaceutical Inspection Co-Operation 

Scheme

PIM Product Information Management

SCHMP: Scientific Committee on Herbal Medicinal 

Products

SWP: Safety Working Party

TSE: Transmissible Spongiform Encephalopathy

UN: United Nations

VPA: Veterinary Product Authorisation

WHO: World Health Organisation
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